*. DOCUMENT RESUME

ŀ	ED 204 347 .	TE 007 012
	AUTHOR	Pike, Lewis W.
•	TITLE	Short-Term Instruction, Testwiseness, and the
		Scholastic Aptitude Test. A Literature Review with Research Recommendations.
	INSTITUTION	Educational Testing Service, Princeton, N.J.4
	SPONS AGENCY	College Entrance Examination Board, New York, N.Y.
	PUB DATE	79
	NOTE	47p.
	AVAILABLE PROM	College Board Publication Orders, Box 2015, Princeton, NJ 08541.
	EDRS PRICE	' MF01 Plus Postage. PC Not Available from EDRS.
	DESURIPTORS	*College Entrance Examinations: Guessing (Tests):
		High Schools: *Instruction: *Program Effectiveness:
•	•	Research Design: *Research Needs: *Scores: *Test
Ċ		Wiseness: Time Pactors (Learning)
_	IDENTIPIERS	*Scholastic Aptitude Test
-		

ABSTRACT

The research literature on short-term-instruction (STI) and intermediate-term instruction (ITI) for the Scholastic Aptitude Test-mathematical section (SAT-M) and the Scholastic Aptitude Test-verbal sections (SAT-V) was reviewed. Selected studies of STI and ITI for tests other than the SAT-M and SAT-V, and of testwiseness (TW), were included in the survey if they were judged relevant to the question of special instruction for the SAT. The research studies were reviewed and interpreted within the framework' of a score components model that posited four content-related and two TW scores components, as well as test-taking confidence and efficiency, that are theoretically subject to STI and ITS effects. In addition, examinee, item, and instructional characteristics were considered as they relate to the score components model. Basic discrepancies between negative and positive findings were noted for both the SAT-M and the SAT-V. There were generally resolved in favor of recognizing meaningful STI effects for the SAT-M, but remain unresolved for the SAT-V. Recommendations were made for SAT-N and SAT-V research allowing STI effects to be partitioned according to examinee, item, and instructional characteristics as they apply to selected test score components. (Author/RL)

College Board Research and Development Report

Short-Term Instruction, Testwiseness, and the Scholastic Aptitude Test



LIO LOO WIL

ED20434

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION EOUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ENIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.

Paints of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official NIE position or policy.

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL IN MICROFICHE ONLY HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."

Short-Term Instruction, Testwiseness, and the Scholastic Aptitude Test

A Literature Review with Research Recommendations

Lewis W. Pike,

College Entrance Examination Board, New York, 1979

3

The College Board is a nonprofit membership organization that provides tests and other educational services for students; schools, and colleges. The membership is composed of more than 2,500 colleges, schools, school systems, and education associations. Representatives of the members serve on the Board of Trustees and advisory councils and committees that consider the programs of the College Board and participate in the determination of its policies and activities.

7

Copies of this report may be ordered from: College Board Publication Orders Box 2815, Princeton, New Jersey 08541.

The price is \$3,

Editorial inquiries about this report should be addressed to: The College Board 288 Source have New York New York 10019

888 Seventh Avenue, New York, New York 10019.

This book, published by the College Board, is based on work commissioned and funded by the Board.

Copyright © 1979 by Educational Testing Service. All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America.

Contents

ß

	<u>م</u>
	5
Introduction	5
Scope of the report	5
Components of observed test scores	5
.Some definitions and conceptualizations	6 -
Literature Review	9
Instruction for the SAT-Mathematical	9.
Instruction for the SAT-Verbal	2
Instruction for tests other than the SAT	4 ·
Studies examining TW	5
Summary and Interpretation of Findings	0 [.]
General considerations	0
Findings regarding the SAT-M	3
Findings regarding the SAT-V	7
Findings regarding TW	1
- Recommendations for Future Research	4
Research objectives	4
Design considerations	7
Recommendations for SAT-M research	8
Recommendations for SAT-V research	9
References	1
Studies of STI and ITI	1
Studies of TW	2

The research on which this report is based was conducted. in 1977 by the author. It is being published now to share Lewis W. Pike's conclusions with other interested researchers.

6

. 1

9

Stephen W. Ivens, The College Board

Ų.

¢.

ERIC

Abstract

The research literature on short-term instruction (STI) and intermediateterm instruction (ITI) for the SAT-mathematical sections and SAT-verbal sections was reviewed. Selected studies of STI and ITI for tests other than the SAT-M and SAT-V, and of testwiseness (TW), were included in the survey if they were judged relevant to the question of special instruction for the SAT.

The research studies were reviewed and interpreted within the framework of a score components model that posited four content-related and two TW score components; as well as test-taking confidence and efficiency, that are theoretically subject to STI and ITI effects. In addition, examinee, item, and instructional characteristics were considered as they relate to the score components model.

Rasic discrepancies between negative and positive findings were noted for both the SAT-M and the SAT-V. There were generally resolved in favor of recognizing meaningful STI effects for the SAT-M, but remain unresolved for the SAT-V. Recommendations were made for SAT-M and SAT-V research allowing STI effects to be partitioned according to examinee, item, and instructional characteristics as they apply to selected test score components.

Introduction

This study was requested by the College Board to provide an up-to-date summary of research findings relevant to the question of special instruction for the Scholastic Aptitude Test. The need for such a review lies both in the continued relevance of the question, and in the fact that the last summary was completed several years ago (College Board, 1968). Question's regarding special instruction for the SAT remain relevant for

several reasons. One reason is that the continued importance of SAT scores to examinees results in a continued pressure to obtain "instruction for the SAT," which in turn leads to an active commercial "coaching" enterprise and to efforts by some public and private schools to provide such instruction. Another is that the changing make-up of the examinee population needs examination. It is entirely plausible, for example, that the more advantaged students represented in most of the studies cited in the College Board bookles, Effects of Coaching on Scholastic Aptitude Test Scores (most of them conducted in the 1950s), were already well prepared to do their best on the SAT to a degree that cannot be assumed for an increasing proportion of the current candidate population, particularly minority and other students outside the mainstream of educational opportunity. Finally, there have been studies of instruction directed either to the SAT or to closely related topics such as the "coachability" of verbal analogies that have appeared since the College Board booklet was published that need to be considered in current thinking and general statements regarding instruction for the SAT.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

• The literature review will cover two interrelated areas of study: (1) stud ies of short-term instruction (STI) and intermediate-term instruction (ITI) directed specifically toward increasing test scores, with particular emphasis on the SAT-V and SAT-M; and (2) studies of testwiseness (TW) -----that were not specifically directed to raising test scores. The review of the literature will be followed by recommendations for future research.

Two topics will be considered next that should help clarify the subsequent review of the literature and facilitate the discussion of its implications: the components of observed test scores as they relate to questions of short-term instruction (STI) and testwiseness (TW); and definition of terms.

COMPONENTS OF OBSERVED TEST SCORES

Implicit in many discussions of STI and TW is the assumption that an individual's test score is essentially a composite of the ability or

ERĬ

knowledge for which a person is being tested, testwiseness, "error"-chance factors in the sampling of test items--lucky guesses--and so on. This assumption is often accompanied by the belief that the intended "real" or Y "true" score on aptitude tests such as the SAT-V and SAT-M is necessarily (by definition) subject only to gradual, long-term change and, as a corollary, a distrust or suspicion of anything that might alter aptitude test scores in a relatively short term (i.e., STI). To put this question in perspective, it is useful to consider the following delineation of the components of observed test scores.

A. "True score" components: e.g., verbal aptitude, mathematical aptitude.

- 1. A composite of underlying knowledge (e.g., vocabulary, elementary algebra) and reasoning ability, developed over a long period of time. Long-term acquisition, long-term retention.)
- 2. A state of being well-reviewed, so that the performance to be demonstrated is in line with the individual's underlying developed competence. (Short-term acquisition, short- or medium-term retention.)
- 3: Integrative learning, overlearning, consolidation. (Short-term acquisition, long-term retention.)
- 4. Learning criterion-relevant, analytic skills (e.g., how to identify the main idea of a paragraph; how to simplify complex quantitative terms before comparing their value). (Short-term acquisition, longterm retention.)
- B. Primary test-specific components.
 - 1. The match between developed ability (including the various score components listed in A above) and test content. Mismatches may occur as gaps in such areas as skill in locating information in reading passages and ability to work with the algebra of inequalities.
 - 2. General Tw--test familiarity, pacing, understanding of general directions, general strategies for using partial information, and so on.
 - Specific TW--components similar to B2, but in reference to characteristics of specific item formats (such as verbal analogies and quantitative-comparison items), and other item characteristics.
- C. Secondary components influencing test taking.
 - 1. Level of confidence.
 - Level of efficiency--the ability to use available knowledge and reasoning ability quickly with a relatively low rate of error resulting from working rapidly.
- D. "Error."'Fluctuations in attention, sampling error, variations in luck when guessing, etc.

SOME' DEFINITIONS AND CONCEPTUALIZATIONS

Terms such as STI, ITI, coaching, TW, guessing, and the "aptitude" versus "achievement" distinction are central to discussions regarding special preparation for test taking, and the meanings of these terms tend to vary from one writer to the next. It will be useful, therefore, to give a brief definition of each, as used in this review, and to expand on the conceptualizations where needed.

<u>Short-term instruction (STI)</u>. The term STI will refer to attempts to improve test scores by means of a relatively short period of instruction; relatively short, that is, when compared to the amount of time generally considered necessary for any substantial change in the ability or knowledge in question. STI may be directed toward any or all of the components of observed test scores noted above except.true-score component Al, which is by definition limited to long-term acquisition. Note that STI for compo-

nents A2, A3, and A4 is in fact directed toward the ability of interest, even though the instruction is short-term. It may be added that in general there is no sharp contrast between education and STI; given appropriate context, STI may properly be viewed as instruction provided in addition to, rather than instead of, conventional long-term learning (i.e., component A1).

Intermediate-term instruction (ITI). As the name suggests, ITI will ref.r to attempts to improve test scores by means of special instruction for a somewhat longer period than STI but still a short period compared to the amount of time generally considered necessary for substantial changes in the ability in question. Except for the difference in the relative period of instruction, the description given of STI also applies to ITI.

<u>Coaching</u>. This term will refer to a subset of possible STI activities limited essentially to very brief instruction in general testwiseness, such as effective pacing, answering items whenever partial information about them is known, and practice in answering questions similar to those in the target examination. Specifically not included in this definition of coaching is any content instruction beyond that which is merely incidental to the practice sessions. This definition is implicit in the College Board (1968) statement on coaching, in the design of most of the studies reported there, and in the interpretation of their results. It has been fairly widely adopted, as is indicated in a recent statement on coaching made by Anastasi (1976): "Item types on which performance can be appreciably raised by short-term drilk or instruction of a narrowly limited nature are not included in the operational forms of the (SAT) tests" $(p_{-a}43)$.

<u>Testwiseness (TW)</u>. In essence, TW is a set of skills and knowledge about test taking that enables individuals to display their abilities (e.g., verbal and mathematical aptitude) to their test advantage. A TW component is by no means unique to standardized tests. It is also present in other modes of assessment such as classroom recitation and essay writing.

Early recognition of the TW component in SAT scores is evident from the fact that "From 1926 to 1944 candidates were required to present completed practice booklets before they were allowed to take the test" (Fremer and Chandler, 1971. p. 147). TW instruction is sometimes viewed primarily as an effort to beat the test, with the assumption that testwise examinees will somehow get higher scores than they deserve. For well-made standardized tests, however, clues that offer spurious routes to correct answers are scrupulously avoided, and the opposite, more compelling concern is that examinees who are not testwise may receive inappropriately low scores. Thus, Stanley (1971, p. 364) uses the contrasting term "test-naivete," and Ebel (1965) notes that "More error in measurement is likely to originate from the students who have had too little, rather than too much, skill in taking tests" (p. 206).

<u>Guessing</u>. Stated simply, guessing consists of answering a test question in the absence of certainty as to the correct response. It may be divided into three categories: guessing that is blind or random, guessing that is spurious or based on a hunch, and guessing based on partial information. In contradistinction to the common feeling that guessing is at least faintly disreputable, the following four points should be noted.

First, guessing is <u>necessary</u> for responding appropriately to the SAT and to most kinds of assessment. Most examinees encounter some test questions about which they have partial information that would enable them to eliminate at least one choice. In such cases they must guess among the remaining alternatives if they are to benefit from their partial information. Their guessing in such instances benefits not only them but the users of the test scores as well, because only when partial information is used is it possible to give greater credit to those who are partially informed with respect to a given question than to examinees who are uninformed about it.

Second, although not everyone would agree, guessing would appear to be appropriate in situations such as taking the SAT. This point may be clarir fled by describing contrasting situations. If a student is taking an "openbook" examination, or is writing a term paper, it would indeed be unscholarly and inappropriate to guess or to gloss over points of uncertainty rather than seeking out the needed information. On the other handy guessing may be inappropriate in a testing situation in which the required information has been clearly specified ahead of time, and mastery of that information emphasized. This would be particularly true if the testing procedures used are consistent with this situation, and guessing on the test is actively discouraged. However, aptitude tests such as the SAT, and even typical largescale standardized achievement tests, present a test-taking situation that Is markedly different. There is not a clearly specified listing of points of information to be mastered, and of course there is no opportunity for seeking additional information as is the case for "open-book" tests. Thus, the test situation, including accompanying directions about guessing, makes it appropriate to guéss when answering SAT items.

Third, it may be argued that despite the misgivings of some educators, guessing on tests such as the SAT is not antithetical to good decision making or good scholarship. In most enterprises, whether building bridges or investigating theoretical problems, the point is necessarily reached where information gathering must be terminated and estimations, educated guesses, and the like must be resorted to.

Finally, the net result of guessing on the SAT is <u>fair</u>; over a set of items, partial credit is received for using partial information.

Aptitude versus achievement testing. The literature on STI and TW is. sprinkled with allusions to differences between aptitude and achievement tests, generally indicating that STI effects are both more likely and more acceptable for achievement tests than for aptitude tests. Essentially, the distinction is that aptitude tests are more general, more oriented toward reasoning, and less curriculum-bound than are their achievement test counterparts. The distinction becomes problematic when it is then suggested that aptitude tests, by definition, should be relatively impervious to STI. With regard to the components of observed test scores noted above, this need only be true for component A1. Component A2 (effective review) theoretically allows for STI effects on aptitude test scores, because as Carroll (1970) has observed, "The SAT is in truth a test of developed abilities, depending both on general intellective capacities to learn and on an accumulation of knowledge and skills acquired through education in, and experience with, the verbal and mathematical aspects of this nation's culture" (p. 2). STI components B2 and B3 (general and specific TW) apply more potentially of aptitude tests than to achievement tests to the extent that aptitude tests more often resort to more complex item formats such as verbal analogies, data sufficiency items, and quantitative comparisons. There appears to be an increasing tendency toward seeing the distinction between aptitude and achievement testing is one that is relative rather than categorical, particularly with regard to the mathematical area.

Literature Review

Because research regarding the SAT-M is more definitive than that directed to the SAT-V, the two will be reviewed in that order. Selected studies of instruction directed to other aptitude cests and subtests and to achievement tests will be considered. Finally, studies examining selected aspects of TW will be reviewed.

/ INSTRUCTION FOR THE SAT-MATHEMATICAL

Studies of STI or ITI directed specifically to increasing scores on the SAT-M will be considered in chronological order. Those conducted prior to the Pike and Evans (1972) report will be considered only briefly, because they have been summarized elsewhere (College Board, 1968; Evans and Pike, 1973; Fremer and Chandler, 1971; Pike and Evans, 1972).

The first sir of these studies (Dyer, 1953 a,b; French, 1955 a,b; Lass, 1958; French and Dear, 1959; Frankel, 1960 a,b; Whitla, 1962) all involved the use of SAT prefests and posttests. The period of time devoted to STI followed a typical format chosen by the instructors, but generally consisted of group practice with test items similar to those appearing in the SAT-M. All reached the conclusion that score gains attributable to coaching were not sufficient to justify having students invest time in such instruction to improve their scores. In some of the studies of particular subgroups of students and/or particular kinds of items there were instances of meaningful score gains. These instances (as well as any other exceptional finding or observation) will be noted for each of the studies.

Of the last four of the studies directed to increasing the SAT-M scores (Marron, 1965; Roberts and Oppenheim, 1966; Pike and Evans, 1972; McCarthy, 1976), all but the second differ from the first six studies, particularly in that they give emphasis to mathematics content review in addition to other kinds of STI or ITI. The Roberts and Oppenheim study differs from all the others in focusing on students considered to be academically disadvantaged.

Dyer study. In this study, coached students (239 boys) averaged 13 points greater gain on the SAT-M 200 to 800 scale than was observed among the 229 control students in a similar preparatory school. The effect was considerably greater, 29 points, when the comparison was made for students who had taken no mathematics as seniors. The 13-point and the 29-point differences were both statistically significant. Data in the appendix to the Dyer report indicate an average gain of about 15 SAT-M points for the total group of control students.

French study. Here, an overall gain of 18 SAT-M points was observed

comparing coached students' gains in one school to those for control students in two other schools. Boys not currently taking mathematics gained 29 points when compared to one control group, and 9 when compared to another; those taking mathematics gained 19 points and 5 points for the same comparison. Paradoxically, girls not taking mathematics gained either 5 points or 1 point, whereas those who were taking mathematics showed a coaching effect of 30 points or 20 points. A plausible explanation would be that in both studies the boys currently taking mathematics had a "ceiling effect" on the benefits of review, but that those not taking mathematics were able to get maximum benefit from coaching. For the girls, on the other hand, it may be that those not taking mathematics were victims of what Tobias (1977) describes as "math anxiety," since they appeared to derive no benefit from the brief review that was provided.

Lass study. Comparisons were made of gains between junior and senior year SAT-M scores for students who received no coaching, those who received outside coaching, and those who received a school-provided orientation program. The latter made students familiar with SAT testing procedures and test content but did not involve extensive drill on multiplechoice test questions or other typical co-ching activities. SAT-M score gains for the three groups were 53, 64, and 52 points, respectively, from junior- to senior-year test administrations. Thus, there was a slight advantage for receiving coaching. Perhaps more notable are the sizable changes for all three groups compared to the 15- to 20-point gains ordinarily observed over this interval of schooling.

Dear study. This study, reported by French and Dear (1959), was designed to be more intens' 'e than the earlier studies. Classes were much smaller (two students in each), and more time was allotted. However, specifics of content and form of instruction were again left to individual teachers, and the assumption that classes of only two students are optimal is not necessarily true. For students not currently taking mathematics, those receiving coaching gained an average of 28 points more than those not coached. For students who were taking mathematics, the average gain attributed to coaching was only 6 points.

<u>Frankel study</u>. This study involved students at the Bronx High School of Science, which had a record of sending 98 percent of its graduates to college. Nearly all students take four years of mathematics. In this study, coached students received 30 hours of instruction from a commercial coaching school. Those who were coached were reported as experiencing a 9-point <u>loss</u> when compared to the controls. However, Frankel also reported the gain scores for both groups, rather than simply the difference between the two. Control subjects gained 66 points between the May and December or January SAT-M, compared to 57 points for coached subjects. These changes, when compared to an average change in SAT-M scores over a similar interval of 15 points for over 1.6 million students (Pike and Evans 1972, p. 5), suggest that the faculty at Bronx High School of Science were already doing exceptionally well in preparing students for taking the test, whether directly or indirectly. In such a school, there is evidently little need for any addition. ' preparation for test taking.

<u>Whitla study</u>. Like Frankel, Whitla examined the effects of commercially provided coaching for the SAT over a similar time interval between pretest and posttest. Coached students showed no SAT-M gain between the second pretest and the posttest; control subjects gained 6 points. Control subjects were volunteers in the same schools attended by students who had elected to obtain instruction from a proprietary organization.

Marron study. The effects of intensive ITi directed to the SAT were

increase of academies. No description was given of the instruction provided, but prewhom planned subsequently sumably on test items. studied for there was some mix of mathematics content instruction and practice 79 a total of 714 students in 10 preparatory schools, most of 1 subsequently to enter one of the United States military service The points. overall average SAT-M was changed from 532 to 611, an

The results may offer another instance of "math anxiety," where the gap between student preparation and the level of the test was too wide to be about 330 on the SAT-M scale. SAT-M whether coaching for the SAT could effectively raise scores of students In discussing the results the authors noted the limited amount of instrucnessee high tolerated easily. tion (15 half-hour from academically disadvantaged backgrounds. Volunteers in eight Ten-Roberts and Oppenheim study. This study was undertaken to determine ĥ 8 a control group. Mean schools were randomly assigned to an instructional group i a control group. Mean PSAT pretest scores were equivalent sessions) and indications of inadequate motivation. The instruction had essentially no effect. group for

the the motivated by a desire to reduce however, that QC items had been found to be remarkably efficient. ventional and straightforward, and <u>Pike and Evans study</u>. When this study was undertaken, the SAT-M was made up of two kinds of items: regular mathemátics (RM), which is contude more ß۵ RM and DS items already in the SAT-M. The study was designed to examine relative susceptibility of each of the three kinds of mathematics aptitest items to STI. In third kind of item, quantitative comparison (QC). The question was complex. At issue was whether to replace these entirely or in part that the QC items might be the process, evidence directly related to inthe SAT-M testing time, data sufficiency relatively more susceptible (DS), which and by There was the to STI than 15 S concern, much fact

of 12 mentary mentary test made up of QC items, and tests parallel to these as posttests several weeks later. In the intervening period experimental subjects re-ceived seven three-hour instructional sessions directed to one of the three struction for the existing SAT-M was also obtained. A separate instructional program was developed for each of the three kinds of test item. Male and female high school junior volunteers in each of 12 schools were given a pretest consisting of a complete SAT, a supple test. formats. Control subjects were provided the same instruction after the posta supplethree

both general and a test principles, ponent A2), it was highly systematic, simplifying than students The Ľ'n şcores instruction differed from that reported in previous studies in that the workbooks and teachers' lesson plans. It was more comprehensive computing involving overlearning or mastery learning of basic noted earlier. Included was systematic content review studies reviewed above in respect to the components of quantitative terms such as computations using inequalities (B1); and specific averages, etc. and control of instruction was provided through aspects or TW (B2 and B3). that are being compared (A4); filling in in-(A3); learning such analytic geometric skills (comteaching observed ŝ

items, Although none of the subjects statistical nd practical significance. The RM items were interestingly less susceptible to STI. Coached students gained about one-half standird devia-tion compared to a gain of one-fifth standard deviation by cont. 1 subjects. one-fourth standard deviation by control subjects on these tests, structed for the complex item Mean gains of changes in SAT-M score nearly a full standard were instructed for all three kinds of SAT-M suggest types (DS and QC), compared to gains of about Fie deviation obtained by subjects in-STI effects that could be were of e Xi

+--•₽

Ľ

£

within the 21 hours of instruction, would be expected to yield an STI effect were of that type. A judicious combination of RM and DS instruction, kept o Fa SAT-M, compared to an 18-point gain by controls. Thus, the STI effect of instruction was 25 points, even though just two-thirds of the SAT-M items pected if similar methods and materials were used and adapted to cover both kinds of items then in the SAT-M. The RM subjects gained 43 points on the about 33 points. of the SAT-M items RM

ing STI will decrease soon thereafter. Of the 377 experimental subjects who SAT the points. took the December posttest, 288 subsequently took the regularly administered It is reasonable to ask whether gai following April. There was an average gain of an additional 24 SAT-M , demonstrated immediately follow-

cludes several practice tests but also provides a formal review of math matical concepts. SAT-M score gains have been recorded for participants instructed and 60 noninstructed students were 57 and 16 respectively. winter senior-year scores. and nonparticipants in the program, comparing spring junior-year scores dents were students (N = 30)in preparation for the fall administration of the SATs." The instruction inmathematics course that they have learned in their high school career. Longmeadow, Massachusetts, provides a course "to help students McCarthy study. The mathematics department at Longmeadow High School, ior-year scores. For winter 1974-75, mean gains for instructed N = 30) and for a random sample (N = 50) of noninstructed stu-38 and 21 respectively. For winter 1975-76, mean gains for 60 but also provides a formal review of mathereview the 5

INSTRUCTION FOR THE SAT-VERBAL

XTS on the Studies of STI directed specifically to increasing scores on the SAT-V will also be considered in chronological order. In most instances, these will be the same studies for which SAT-M effects were considered. Five of the first of these studies have been summarized in the 1968 College Board booklet the effects of coaching.

difference was not reported. Data in the appendix to this mean gain of about 30 SAT-V points for the control student Dyer study. In this study, coached students averaged only 5 SAT-V points greater gain on the SAT-V 200 to 800 scale than was observed for control Those for analogies were significant at the .05 level; students in a similar school. Differences were also examined by item type (analogies, sentence completion, antonyms, and reading comprehension). to 800 scale than was observed students. the size of the study show a

most likely to variability in instruction, but they also suggest possible differential was due school, 5 points. two-thirds.of the dents susceptibility first school, gains attributed to coaching were 18 points, in the second French study. SAT-V instruction was provided in in a third school served as controls without instruction. almost ts. In the former, instruction on analogies accounted for the total effect of coaching, and in the latter the effect entirely to antonyms. These differences underscore the to instruction, depending on item type; analogies are the yield a sizable effect from STI. two schools, and stuaccounted for In the effect

(verbal and mathematics coaching), SAT-V gains were 28, 33, respectively. 5 schooi A (no instruction), school B (verbal coaching), and school C and 46 points

gains note here that the orientation program seems to have been more buneficial for and those who received a school-provided orientation program. Lass study. Comparisons were made between junior and senior SAT-V scores students who received no coaching, for the three groups were 41, 44, and 53 points. It those who received outside coaching, is interesting to SAT-V score

than the coaching. Once again, all three groups showed sizable average gains.

<u>Dear study</u>. This study (French and Dear, 1959) showed essentially no effects due to SAT-V instruction for coached students.

<u>Frankel study</u>. Among students at Bronx High School of Science, uncoached students gained 38 SAT-V points compared to 47 points for those who received commercial instruction, a difference of only 9 points. Gains for both groups were larger than typically observed for May-December/ January score changes (18 points on the average for SAT-V), which again suggests an accelerated rate of growth at this school. The SAT-V gains were not as pronounced as for the SAT-M, on which controls and coached students gained 66 and 57 points respectively.

<u>Pallone study</u>. Pallone (1961) reports the effects of two programs of <u>instruction</u> for the SAT-V, one STI and the other ITI. He did not attempt instruction for the SAT-M. Pallone deliberately designed instruction to go beyond the "coaching" that has so regularly been found ineffectual and focused instead on the reading, vc abulary, and logical reasoning abilities that the SAT-V is assumed to measure. The STI was in the form of a very systematic study program involving instruction in intensive reading skills, skimming, critical reading, reading comprehension exercises, and the analysis of verbal analogies and was provided in daily 90-minute sessions over a six-week period. Thus, it seemed most directed to score component A4 (learning criterion-relevant analytic skills) and also covered component A3 (integrative learning), B1 (filling in gaps in developed ability), and B3 (TW specific to analogies).

The 20 participating students showed an average gain of 98 SAT-V points. Because there were no control subjects there is no direct way to subtract from this the effects of practice and growth in order to estimate the STI effect. Using the gains experiment, including by controls at the Bronx High School " of Science as a rough (and probably conservatively high) estimation of control subject gains, the effects of STI in the Pallone study would be estimated at approximately 60 points.

The ITI program involved daily 50-minute instructional periods over a five-month interval. Program content was similar to the STI except for a substantially greater amount of instruction. About 80 students completed the ITI program, and for these the average SAT-V score gain was 109 points. The 20 students receiving STI also received the ITI, and there was an over-all score gain for these students of 122 points.

<u>Whitla study</u>. Students receiving commercial instruction for the SAT-V gained 11 points more than the control subjects between pretest and posttest. (Controls gained 20 points between the two testings, and 39 points altogether between the pre-pretest junior-year SAT and the posttest taken as seniors.)

<u>Marron study</u>. Following intensive ITI in the 10 preparatory schools, the average SAT-V score changed from 471 to 528, a gain of 57 points.

<u>Roberts and Oppenheim study</u>. Volunteers in six Tennessee high schools were randomly assigned to a PSAT-V instructional group or to a control group. Mean PSAT-V pretest scores were equivalent to about 315 on the SAT-V scale. As with PSAT-M instruction, programmed instruction was provided in 15 half-hour sessions. Instructed students gained the equivalent of 7 SAT-V points, and controls lost 7 points. The control group's loss of points was apparently due to motivational problems.

<u>Coffman and Neun study (1966)</u>. This study was undertaken to determine the effect of a presumably typical accelerated reading course on SAT-V scores. Three groups of college freshmen took part in the study, each

receiving 45 to 50 hours of instruction as part of a college-credit course emphasizing speed with relative accuracy. There were no control subjects. Mean score changes were +4, +10, and -29. The last change is statistically significant, suggesting that instruction for that group may actually have hindered effective performance on the SAT-V. The authors described the results as being in disagreement with Pallone's findings. However, since the instruction appears to lack most of the features provided by Pallone for increasing verbal reasoning powers, the two studies seem scarcely comparable.

INSTRUCTION FOR TESTS OTHER THAN THE SAT

Two studies (Marron, 1965; Jacobs, 1966) involving instruction for the College Board English Composition Test (ECT) are relevant to the question of instruction for the SAT-V. It may be noted, for example, that two of the four item formats used in the SAT-V (reading comprehension, and antonyms) could as well be viewed as testing the attainment of reading skills and vocabulary respectively. Furthermore, the ECT contains complicated item formats, and, as a result, instruction directed in part to the relevant TW components may have implications for TW instructions for other relatively complex formats such as verbal analogies in the SAT-V and data sufficiency or quantitative comparison items in the SAT-M.

Two additional studies (Moore, 1971; Whitely and Dawis, 1974) are addressed specifically to questions regarding instruction for answering analogy items.

<u>Marron study</u>. Of the students taking SAT pretests and posttests in the Marron study, 347 also took the ECT on both occasions. The average gain on the ECT 200 to 800 scale was 83 points, from a pretest score mean of 458.

Jacobs study. Student volunteers in each of six schools were randomly assigned to a group receiving instruction or a control group. The STI consisted of six three-hour sessions. About nine hours were spent directly on criterion skills (score components A2, 3 and 4), and about nine hours on specific TW (score component B3) related to item format. In each school, specific TW was directed to two of the three ECT item formats (sentence correction, construction shift, and puragraph organization). The ECT was administered only after the experimental subjects had received instruction. In two of the schools, involving a toul of 36 students receiving STI and 44. control students, there were only negligible differences between scores for the two groups. In the other four schools, involving 91 instructed and 87 control students, mean differences ranged from 44 ECT points in one of the schools to 73 points in another. Such clear evidence of STI effects occurring in some schools but not in others suggests that the specifics of STI provided by different instructors may have a maked effect on the outcome of an STI experiment.

<u>Moore study</u>. Instruction for answering verbal analogy items was provided to graduate students by a booklet directed to two aspects of the task: understanding the format of the question, and learning to recognize specific classes of relationship. The 38 subjects were randomly assigned to an experimental or a control group. A 75-item analogy test with a somewhat more cumbersome format than that used for the SAT-V was subsequently administered. Students receiving ST1 averaged 44.3.items correct compared to 39.7 for controls, a difference of about three-fourths of a standard deviation. The number of subjects was very small, so these results should be considered tentative. If the findings replicated, however, they would demonstrate that even brief instruction to relatively sophisticated examinees can make a difference in Performance On verbal analogy items.

Whitely and Dawis Study. The subjects were 184 students randomly selected from the class lists of two inner-city high schools in St. Paul, Minnesota. Those selected were randomly assigned to one of five treatment groups or to a control group. Verbal analogy items used for the study had an unusually low vocabulary level, so that answering the items would depend primarily on the ability to educe relationships rather than on word knowledge. The pretest and posttest each consisted of a 41-item analogy test. Fifty analogy items were used for all five treatments. One treatment involved practice on the 50 items without feedback, and another involved practice with feedback of the correct answer. The other threa treatment groups also had practice with the 50 items, with instruction interspersed between item subsets that was addressed primarily to helping students learn to recognize such categories of relationships as "opposites," "class membership," and "functional." The three groups receiving instruction differed in that one was instructed under the condition of feedback and structural aids (in which 10 additional analogies were presented with structural labels and arrows indicating the related pair), another with feedback only, and the third with structural aids only. It was found that the only experimental group to perform significantly better than the controls was the one receiving instruction combined with both feedback and the diagrammatic structural aid. All six groups had pretest means of about 24 and standard deviations of about 9. The control group gained about 2.3 items correct, the "instruction plus feedback plus structure" group gained about 6.3, and the other groups between 3.4 and 4.0 items correct.

These results indicated that well-designed STI (only 50 minutes were used for the intervention) can sometimes meaningfully increase performance on analogy items, and that practice, beyond that obtained in taking the pretest, even with feedback, had no meaningful effect unless it was supplemented by carefully designed instructional materials.

STUDIES EXAMINING TW

The topic of TW is frequently investigated in studies not involving in-. struction for specific tests or subtests. Because of the importance of TW as a component of test scores, and the implications of this component regarding test validity and fairness, some of the general findings in these studies of TW will be reviewed here. These will be clustered in several categories. First will be studies or commentary relevant to adequately defining TW (Alker, Carlson and Hermann, 1967; Crehan, Koehler, and Slakter, 1974; Diamond and Evans, 1972; Ebel, 1965; Millman, Bishop, and Ebel, 1965; Stanley, 1971). Second will be the topic of guessing (Cronbach, 1970; Diamond and Evans, 1973; Flaugher and Pike, 1970; Lord, 1964; Lord, 1975; Slakter, 1968 a,b; Pike and Evans, 1972; Pike and Flaugher, 1970; Thorndike, 1971). Third is the related topic of fisk taking (Slakter, 1967; Slakter, 1969; Slakter, Crehan, and Koehler, 1975; Swineford and Miller, 1953). Fourth is another topic related to guessing, that of answer changing (Bath, 1967; Jacobs, 1972; Lynch and Smith, 1975; Mueller and Schwedel, 1975; Mueller and Wasser, 1977). The fifth topic is TW related to particular kinds of items. These include studies of verbal analogies (Connolly and Wantman, 1964; Gentile, 1966; Gentile, 1968; Gentile, Kessler, and Gentile, 1969; Willner, 1964), and of reading comprehension items (Pyrczak, 19/4; Vernon, 1962).

On defining TW. Earlier in this paper, TW was defined as "that set of

13

skills and knowledge about how to take a particular test that allows individuals to display their abilities to their best advantage." It will be useful at this point to consider other definitions, explicit or implicit, commonly used in the testing literature when discussing TW. The definition ost often encountered in the literature is that proposed by Millman, _ishop, and Ebel (1965): "'Test-wiseness' is ... a subject's capacity to utilize the characteristics and formats of the test and/or the test-taking situation 'o receive a high score. Test-wiseness is logically independent of the examinee's knowledge of the subject matter for which the items are supposedly measures" (p. 707).

Implicit in both definitions is the possibility that some aspects of TW are necessary if examinees are to receive proper credit for the knowledge or ability being tested, and that other aspects of TW may allow examinees to receive more credit than is their due, i.e., the test-sophisticate may be able to "beat the test." The Millman et al. definition appears to elicit the latter concern. Typical of reformulations of their definition is that used by Diamond and Evans (1972); who define TW as ". . . the ability to respond advantageously to multiple-choice items containing extraneous clues and to obtain credit on these items without knowledge of the subject matter" (p. 145). Another instance of picking up on the beating-the-test aspect of the Millman et al. definition is found in Alker et al. (1967) who state: "Defined in this way (Millman et al.), testwiseness emphasizes the use of the format of the test rather than its content to achieve a higher score. . . ." (p. 11). Note that they could as well have said "in addition to" instead of "rather than." On the other hand, awareness of a need for the opposite concern, particularly with respect to well-constructed objective tests, is evident in statements by writers such as Ebel and, Stanley, as was noted earlier. With regard to tests such as the SAT, a concern that examinees should have the required TW to cope well with the test as a vehicle through which they are to demonstrate their verbal or mathematical ability would appear to be more compelling. This is in keeping with the recommendations of Crehan et al. (1974) who, upon demonstrating that some examinees are consistently low on TW across tests, noted that TW can never be fully eliminated as a component of standardized tests and suggested that ". . . perhaps more thought should be given to the teaching of tw to students low in tw" (p. 211).

<u>Studies of guessing</u>. A central part of TW is knowing when and how to guess, where guessing is defined as answering a test question in the absence of certainty as to the correct response. The problem is especially troublesome for objective tests of ability, in part because multiplechoice questions heighten our awareness of the guessing component, and in part because a general test of ability, <u>especially</u> if it is of an appropriate difficulty level for a given examinee, will have many items for which the examinee is neither certain of the correct answer (and therefore has no need to guess) nor so totally uninformed as to be reduced to blind guessing. Although blind or random guessing is the kind that comes to mind initially and is discussed most often, it is probably the least likely to occur. Most guessing decisions will involve choosing whether to answer a question or not, when the basis for doing so is either partial information or a spurious hunch or feeling.

Much of the research literature on the question of guessing on objective tests is focused on the use or nonuse of a "correction formula" for guessing. Diamond and Evans summarized this literature in 1973 and found little basis for any conclusive answers. When not certain of the answer to a question examinees vary considerably in their willingness to guess, even when

test" penalty for <u>not</u> guessing. Responding to the argument that examinees often fail to use the best guessing strategy but instead omit items on which they could do better than chance (and thus could expect to benefit even when there is a penalty), Lord (1975) comments that "Perhaps the difficulty can be corrected by giving better test instructions. If not, already He for children in school to scoring penalty directions tend to influence most those students who are from this factor, the standard guessing penalty is often imposed. Ironi-cally, as Slakter (1968a) noted, research has shown that even when there there penalty for elaborates the point in another article (1968b) where he notes that the ÷ is no penalty for doing so. To reduce the score differences resulting relucant to guess, resulting in the guessing penalty becoming a <u>%</u> guessing most examinees would do better if be taught how to behave effectively when taking a they it may be time guessed more. there is

and a clearly stated penalty for guessing. It is likely that forcing such examinees to answer all analogy items would serve to decrease their scores. Studies of risk taking. Examinees having a given level of information being systematically attracted to error choices for this item type. In sul sequent work with the Graduate Record Examinations (GRE), Pike (1978, un-published) found that low-scoring examinees scored at worse than chance behavior was found in the error responses of the inner-city students than in those of the norming population for three item formats: reading compre-hension, sentence completion, and antonyms. For analogies, however, inner-city error responses were as systematic as those for the norming population 'Test guess two problems emerge from this approach. First, many examinees still decline to answer every question. Second, as noted by Lord (1964) and others, "Forced random guessing necessarily increases the error of measurement present in the test scores" (p..746). Yet another problem is that requiring only" scoring, accompanied by instructions to anywer every item. At of verbal aptitude items. This occurred in on the other item formats, ing behavior However, actual performance on analogies was comparatively worse examinees srandard correction formula, many testers and level on more than half the analogy items, developed by and Pike (1970) Because of the problems such as (PSAT), 5 knowing how to guess. This is exemplified by to answer all questions shifts the problem from knowing when to knowing how to guess. This is exemplified by findings of Flaugher a test that was very difficult for them. Using an index Pike (Pike and Flaugher, 1970), substantially more rand found in the error responses of the inner-city students by inner-city students on the Preliminary Scholastic Aptitude who were examining relative suggesting that the inner-city those noted but only rarely on other types spite of the option of omitting amounts of random-like substantially more random-like equcators advocate "rights above associated with examinees were than that answer-In subleast the

question of guessing. Studies directed to risk-taking behavior will be cussed in the immediately preceding paragraphs as a part of the general ĥ considered next. are commonly tempts to reduce this variability in deciding when to guess have been distendency to guess despite any directions to the contrary. These differences are commonly referred to as differences in risk-taking (RT) behavior. Atconfidence for answering a test question may differ considerably in the

not given under three different instructions: (1) encouraged to lary test that included items having nonwords and words extremely unlikely a slight difference between no instructions about guessing and instruction Ξ to be Swineford and Miller (1953) investigated TW by administering a vocabuto guess; and (3) not instructed about guessing. there was some guessing in all three sets of directions; (2) there was known for which answering would strongly imply guessing. It was found sseng; The that 2 test was to 1d

17

favoring guessing (it appeared easier to inhibit guessing than to encourage it); and (3) there was little relationship between guessing, risk taking, and ability.

Various measures of risk taking have been compared by Slakter (1967). In a later study (1969) he pointed out that examinees who do not take risks tend to be penalized on test scores, and he also noted that this tendency usually generalizes across different tests. Still more recently Slakter, Crehan, and Koehler (1975) reported on a longitudinal study of RT tendency. They found again that RT was relatively stable across tests for an individual examinee at a given time, but found longitudinal changes that point to the fact that RT tends to decrease over grades 5 to 9 and then becomes relatively stable, at least through grade 11. They noted an important implication of this finding, that the contribution of RT strategy toward maximizing test scores actually tends to become <u>less</u> between grades 5 and 9.

Studies of answer changing. Yet another aspect of the question of guessing, which is more in the realm of how to guess than when, is that of answer-changing behavior on multiple-choice tests. The topic is of interest because student opinion and much of the advice given by educators runs directly counter to most research findings. Two excellent summaries on the question are provided by Lynch and Smith (1975) and Mueller and Wasser (1977). Among the more recent studies of interest are those of Bath (1967), Jacobs (1972), and Mueller and Schwedel (1975). The following conclusions emerge from these studies.

 Most examinees express the belief that it does not pay to change answers.

2. Most examinees do charge answers but typically on only about 4 percent of the questions.

3. In fact it generally does pay to change answers. Typical findings are that there are about two favorable changes for every unfavorable change.

4. Gains drop off as items get relatively more difficult.

5. Higher scoring examinees tend to benefit more from changing answers than do those who score lower.

<u>Studies of testwiseness (TW) for specific item types</u>. The "how" of effective guessing becomes particularly central when attention is given to specific kinds of items, especially those that are relatively complex. In surveying studies of TW, studies directed specifically to reading comprehension items and to verbal analogies, both of which are relatively complex, were found particularly relevant.

Vernon (1962) examined the assessment of reading comprehension of British and American examinees by comparing free-response data from essays, fill-in sentences, etc. to multiple-choice responses. He found a testsophistication factor in the multiple-choice responses of British examinees who were generally unfamiliar with such tests that was much less evident in American responses. The difference was more pronounced for the reading comprehension items than for the more straightforward vocabulary questions. Pyrczak investigated an intriguing aspect of testwiseness by studying the effects of answering test items for reading comprehension independently of the accompanying passage. In one study (1972) he found that examinees rely on various sources of information and misinformation when answering such questions in the absence of the reading passages and also make use of interrelationships among the items in a given set. In a subsequent study (1974) he reduced these sources of answering strategy and found that examinees were still able to perform at a better-thanchance level, presumably by such devices as selecting statements of

2:

క్రా

ERIC

general principles rather than specific facts, and by selecting the most general of several principles presented.

Willner (1964), working with analogy items drawn from a wide variety of tests (Miller Analogies Test, Army Alpha, Otis Beta, etc.), found that about half the items could be answered correctly on the basis of word association alone, i.e., without having to educe relationships for a given item and then solving the analogy on the basis of the educed relationships. He recommended that analogy items that are substantially free of the wordassociation effects on analogy solving be constructed and used in tests. He added the impressionistic observation that in some instances word associations led to the wrong answer, and that some examinees who might have solved an analogy on the relational basis appeared instead to have been distracted from doing so by the strong associational attraction of one of the error choices.

Connolly and Wantman (1964) used "think aloud" data elicited from nine subjects in solving verbal analogies to observe analogy-solving processes. The observations were largely impressionistic. Two impressions were relevant to the present review. First, the words provided in the alternative answer choices influenced how the stem words were interpreted. The subjects were often observed to revise the relationships they had established for the stem pair of words to fit the demands of the first option. Second, it was observed that the subjects seemed to differ considerably in their methods of attacking or analyzing test items. Both observations are relevant to score component B3, "specific TW," and the second has implications regarding component A4, "relevant analytic skills."

. Gentile (1966) and Gentile, Kessler, and Gentile (1969) have also examined performance in solving verbal analogies (drawn from recired SAT-V items), giving primary consideration to the amount of score variance attributable to word associations. In the 1969 study "associative relatedness" was found to account for 28 to 50 percent of the score variance. Their discussion suggests that they consider the effect of associative relatedness to be an inherent part of analogy items, a position that contrasts with Willner's discussion in which the availability of an associational basis for answering analogies without resort to educing relationships is viewed as a problem that can be remedied by changes in test construction. Gentile (1968) also examined the effect of sociocultural level and the knowledge of definitions on analogy solving. The latter was done by observing the effect of providing definitions of words appearing in the analogies. He found the effects both singly and in combination to be weak.

Summary and Interpretation of Findings

Some general considerations will be noted first that provide a useful framework for doing so. Following that, findings relevant to the SAT-M and those having a bearing on the SAT-V will be considered, with results derived from studies of tests other than the SAT cited where appropriate. Findings from studies of TW will be summarized last.

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

Design characteristics. The first consideration is that of the basic design features of the studies themselves. The studies differ substantially in such important variables as the use or nonuse of control groups, the selection of control groups (ranging from using groups of students in schools generally comparable to those the experimental subjects are in, to the use of random assignment), the number of subjects, and the use either of pretest and posttest data or of alternatives to that procedure.

Summarizing mixed findings. The next consideration is the question of how research findings should best be interpreted, particularly when making comparisons across studies. In principle, a single study showing substantial positive gains cannot be countered or refuted by any number of studies failing to get positive results. The only near exception would occur in the event of a well-designed replication study that failed to show similarly positive results. In that case, there would be a discrepancy needing further study and resolution. Similarly, it would be fallacious to infer, from mixed results across studies on a topic such as STI effects, that across-study inconsistencies justify the conclusion that there are no meaningful effects. As exemplified in Jacobs' (1966) discussion of differences on English Composition Test score changes from one experimental group to another, mixed results can mean that an effort should be made to find out why instruction was effective in some places but not in others. This observation is particularly true when making comparisons between studies in which little account was taken of either examinee or instructional characteristics. A third observation is that there has been a considerable emphasis in most discussions of STI on the overall magnitude of its effects, with little consideration given to differences among examinees, STI curriculums, or item formats and other item characteristics, especially when stating final conclusions.

The tendency to consider only overall average results of STI, together with a polarization of attitudes toward STI as being essentially good or bad, has tended to distract attention from analyses and intérpretations that could lead to a more cumulative, orderly base of information regard-

instructional, and item characteristics will converse components will be Within each of these, the several kinds of test score components will be areas of test-preparedness (i.e., to what test score components). In the summaries for the SAT-M and SAT-V, two distinctions will be used. Examinee, ing the kinds of ST? that are effective, for whom, and in what particular other distinction.

.use The STI, ITI, regular-instruction continuum. The next two considerations are interrelated. First is the realization that STI, ITI, and "regular instruction" are not categorically distinct but rather fall along instrucrials; study directed to relevant context critical analytic skills, TW, influenced by many sources. These sources may be either self-study or guided tion that score gains associated with various score components may be oriented toward a specific test. The related consideration is the recognitional continua, differing in the relative amount of time required to produce a gain and in the relative directness to which the instruction ß regular classroom and textbook materials, commercial coaching mareto which the instruction is etc., the

tests?" (Downey, 1977, p. 30). He evidently had tests such as the SAT in mind, as he next described circumstances ". . . under which the universities would have to stop requiring them." A more realistic level of concern but ... one still describing a potentially excessive STI effect that is quite dent's vocabulary, reading speed and comprehension, then they serve a use-ful purpose for the student. If, however, they lead to an inflation of the student's test score without improving the underlying ability, the student may simply gain admission to a college where his Brobability of doing The limits of STI and ITI effects. A final consideration in reviewing and interpreting the STI and ITI literature is recognition of the theoretisuccessful work is low" "If special preparation and coaching provide long-term improvement in the stufied in the unlikely to and on. What happens when everyone is coached and everyone does well on tests?" (Downey, 1977, p. 30). He evidently had tests such as the SAT in teach test-taking strategies in the Washington, D. C., tem said: "Unless someone intercedes at some point, th tion of Elementary School Principals. Houts, in reaction to a decision to limits is evidenced in statements such as that made by Paul Houts, who is described by Downey (1977) as a testing expert with the National Associacal and empirical limits of their effects. A lack of awareness of these the SAT descriptive materials, and so on. occur, given the theoretical limits of such effects, is exempli-latter half of the following statement by Coffman and Neun (1966); ÷ intercedes at some point, this is going to 1). public school sys-80 댦 9

C

material had already been learned at an earlier time. Second, the effects for a given examinee are necessarily limited by the extent of need for review. For the SAT-M the need for review is likely to be substantial for The score components model. These concerns about unlimited or excessive STI effects may profitably be addressed from the standpoint of the score components model. Component A-1 (general level of developed ability) is presumably by far the largest component of an examinee's SAT-M or SAT-V large score gains due to effective review for, say, the SAT-M could not properly be described as instances of excessive gain. In such cases an examinee's performance has been raised to a level consistent with his o some examinees, subject to two limiting factors. First, review component the use limited, term acquisition. Effects of STI addressed to component A-2 (review) are score and is by definition subject to meaningful gains only through long-, as virtually all examinees spend much of their time involved in of spoken and written English. Before leaving consideration of t but for the SAT-V this need is likely to be rather more (A-2), it should be noted that even instances of rather "review" presupposes that relevant time. Second, the effects R the

her underlying developed competence. We see, then, that it is the <u>nature</u> rather than the amount of STI gains that determines whether they may be properly considered as excessive.

Score component A-3 (integrative learning, overlearning) again presupposes prior learning at some reasonable level of mastery. Component A-4 (knowledge of criterion-relevant, analytic skills) is at least conceptually subject to STI effects, and if this component were shown to be subject to STI it would in no way invalidate the test. Evidence that such abilities are subject to STI should give us more comfort than discomfort, although it would heighten our awareness of possible disparities in the quality of education, whether short term or long term in acquisition. There is little hard data on the topic. It was addressed most directly, perhaps, in the work of Bloom and Broder (1950) and less directly with regard to the SAT-M by Pike and Evans (1972) and for the SAT-V by Pallone (1961). The paucity of data suggesting STI effects for component A-4 may suggest that meaningful gains in this realm, even given excellent instruction for teaching these analytic skills, are likely to be observed only for students who had developed a "readiness" for such gains. "A student who reads widely and with avid interest but has not honed his or her analytic reading skills may be such a person.

The next three score components to consider with regard to limits of STI effects are those specific to the activity of test taking itself. Component B-1 (the match betweer the domain of the examinee's developed ability and test content) is likely to yield only slight STI effects if examinees are clearly aware of the test content domain, and if the test does not contain an undue number of items requiring basic knowledge most of them do not have. For example, STI for solving inequalities is more likely to have a meaningfully large effect on SAT-M scores to the extent that (1) the test has many items calling for this ability, (2) many students have not routinely learned this ability; and (3) many examinees are unaware of the fact that such items are included in the SAT-M.

Score component B-2 (general TW; test familiarity, appropriate pacing, understanding general directions, knowing when and how to guess, etc.) is susceptible to STI effects almost entirely to the extent that the examinee is initially test-naive. Thus, for the most part, any score increase due to STI directed to component B-2 is evidence of having helped students receive the credit to which they are due, rather than having fostered any kind of "beating the test" resulting in "excessive" score gains. Note that gain of this sort — an increase (rather than an inflation) ". . . of the students' test score without improving the underlying ability" that need not imply that "the student may simply gain admission to a college where his probability of doing successful work is low" (Coffman and Neun, 1966, p. 1).

The next score component, B-3 (specific TW; similar to general TW but referring to item format and other item characteristics), is the only component that poses a problem regarding possible "excessive" gain from STI. The problem arises in the case of complex item formats which, in their complexity, tap a kind of methods variance conceptually independent of the mathematical or verbal aptitude the SAT is intended to measure. Vernon (1954), in reviewing the British literature on coaching, concluded that more complex item formats are likely to be more coachable. Loret (1960), in his review of SAT content from the test's inception in 1926 to 1960, made the same observation, and noted a steady trend in both the mathematical and verbal parts of the test toward simpler, more straightforward item formats. Nevertheless, for pragmatic reasons there remain in use item formats that are sufficiently complex to allow an undesirably large STI effect favoring students who are given help in learning how to deal with the item format complexities. Aside from dropping such item formats altogether, the problem can be reduced in the following ways: (1) by keeping the number of such items proportionally low; (2) by imposing appropriate test specifications within item format (c.f., Willner's suggestion, noted earlier, for minimizing the role played by word association in solving verbal analogies); (3) by expanding and calarifying directions given within each test; and (4) by providing wide dissemination of information describing these item formats and instruction about how to cope with their complexities. To the extent that these four measures are taken, the magnitude of STI effects for component B-3 will tend to fall within acceptable limits.

Although the final pair of score components, C-1 (level of confidence), and C-2 (level of efficiency), are in large measure spin-offs of the preceding seven, STI may include direct attempts to ensure that these benefits do indeed follow from instruction directed to the other score components. Here again it may be noted that even instances of large score gains resulting from changes in the score components in question are instances of helping examinees to receive appropriately higher scores, rather than helping them make excessive gains that might be both unfair and a disservice to the examinees by making their scores unrealistically high.

FINDINGS REGARDING THE SAT-M

A basic discrepancy. In summarizing the findings of studies of STI or ITI for the mathematical sections of the SAT we begin with a basic discrepancy. The overall conclusions of Dyer, French, Dear, Lass, Frankel, Whitla, and Roberts and Oppenheim are essentially negative, whereas those of Pike and Evans, McCarthy, and Marron are positive. The former studies show overall average score changes attributable to STI ranging from slight losses to gains up to about 20 SAT-M scale points. Some of these differences were statistically significant, but none were considered meaningfully large. By contrast; overall STI effects in the Pike and Evans study are gains conservatively estimated at about 33 SAT-M points, and those in McCarthy's 1975-76 data at about 41 points. Overall instructional effects averaged by Marron over 10 preparatory schools yielded a gain of about 79 SAT-M points. Among the other studies in this review, average control group gains ranged from 15 points in Dyer's study to 66 in Frankel's, and there was a median gain of 31 points. Using the latter as a rough estimate of what control subjects might have gained in the Marron study, the effect of ITI would be estimated as 79 minus 31 equals 48 points.

Interpreting the discrepancy. In considering the discrepancy between studies in which positive overall results were reported and those in which negative results were reported, we may consider how to interpret the discrepancy how seriously to take the positive results, and then examine why the discrepancy was observed. In interpreting the discrepancy, it should be recalled that in principle even a single study showing substantial effects cannot be refuted by any number of studies failing to do so. It follows, of course, that mixed results across studies cannot be dismissed as simply indicating that meaningful effects were somehow due to happenstance, or that mixed results indicate basically no effect over the set of studies summarized.

<u>Credibility of the positive findings</u>. On the other hand it is reasonable to demand of a study that obtains positive results contrary to most other

or control groups was a strong design feature, a, was random assignment of experimental and control studencs to either an A, B or a B, A sequence of pretest and posttest. The latter feature ruled out possible score equating problems that were invokel as possible reasons for some of the larger gain course:for school credit to score changes of 60 students in the same so who did not take the course. The Marron study involved 714 students in schools, most of whom were in preparatory programs designed to help the studies on the same topic that its design, and the results strong support for the conclusions before they are fully as subjects. entry ... compared the score gains of 60 students who had taken an SAT-M preparatory observed effects were found to be both statistically and meaningfully significant case of the Pike and Evans study, some 500 students were involved. increase for all different schools. Random assignment of students 24 experimental groups, distributed over 24 United States military service academies. There were no control their SAT and College Board Achievement Test scores prior to in other studies. The McCartny study was less formal. results reported, lend different teachers to either the coach score equating the coached The report larger gains same school The STI In the ţhem 5 10

meaningful gains from chort-term instruction directed to the PSAT. Anothe consideration is that most of the studies reporting negative overall condents in these studies were attending prestigious private or public schoo where students are generally well test-prepared; i.e., well-reviewed, pract.ced, informed on questions of general and specific TW, etc. The majo exception was the Roberts and Oppenheim Study, in which it is likely that the opposite situation interfered with possible STI effects; the students control groups. In some instances there were no control groups, and in others the experimental and control subjects were in separate schools, and clusions bad serious design problems, particularly in the lack of adequate were apparently just too educationally disadvantaged to expect to achieve inclu for which negative conclusions were reached, the STI tended to be brief and relatively uncontrolled, emphasizing test-taking practice and offering at most only incidental instruction directed to mathematics content. Also differences a result, <u>Explaining the discrepancy</u>. We turn next to some observations of why the ferences in overall conclusions may have occurred. In all the studies <u>ن</u>ت was some instruct on for general W. In most instances the Studies The major Another schools stu

as test-sophistication noted, for the other group of to have a need for STI or iTI and a readiness to studies tended to be at neither of the extremes of instruction was moderately to highly controlled and deliberately included appropriate mathematical content. The participating students in these characterized as having generally involved more hours of instruction. The findings, the three studies providing positive overall results may In contrast to the description of the studies yielding negative overall STI effects were confounded with school effects. of studies. Thus th to benefit from it. test-preparedness or they seemed Б е

the following score gains by means of entryme interventions, rendering than not truly generalizable to the usual concerns and questions about coaching or STI/T effects. The generalizability of the Pike and Evans study is supported by A final consideration in the discrepancy between the two studies is the possibility that they demonstrated clear-cut and (3) only take the SAT. The instruction was effective over initial SAT-M scores of 250 to 650. It should be classes 2 all 500 plus students , wolved were volunteers who had planned to hours of classroom participation; despite observations: (1) the instruction was short term, differences in schools; teachers, and group's of (2) it was effective noted that the full range of their coaching or SfI/ITI groups a central STI or in a11 24 students; involving ę, III

24 24

> 33 ب

in informational gaps such as computations involving inequalities (B-1), and teaching general and specific aspects of TW (B-2 and B-3). The generalizability of the Marron findings is supported by the obmathematical operations (A-3), extensive guided practice in responding premise in undertaking the study was that well-developed instructional materials would be essential to a successful program of STI. Student content review (A-2), overlearning/mastery-learning of basic facts systematically and analytically to individual test items (A-4), filling struction that would systematically incorporate effective mathematica workbooks and teachers' class outlines were developed to facilitate inar.d

.verbal and mathematical aptitude; *consideration. Carrol1 (1970) is a factor. The natural limits on the amount of instruction that might be profitably devoted to general and specific TW, and even to content review, are such that any extended instruction designed to increase test scores wi plicitly to raising test scores. On the one hand, this large amount of time spent on instruction clearly sets the Marron data apart from those all the other studies considered in this review. On the other hand, the question of whether long periods of instruction would make meaningful indecessarily devote'a large proportion of time to regular instruction. It is instructive to note that although average SAT-M gains between the junior SAT, differences on SAT scores is one that has regularly been given serious consideration. Carroll (1970) suggests that ⁿIn the case of students who 0f verbal and mathematical aptitude; especially verbal aptitude, can be devel, oped within the length of, say, a school year, no one has yet demonstrated a way to do it" (Vol, 1, p. 12). What seems to be called for is an in-creased awareness of an underlying continuum for STI, ITI, and regular in-(1970) suggests that ". . . students cannot late in high school hope to improve their performance on the SAT appreciably by studying for it . . .," and then adds: "This is not to say that the abilities that are measured on struction would not generally suffice to make a dramatic improvement in test performance $\cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot$ (p. 4). The College Board Commission on Tests struction, which in this case consisted of a full semester devoted studies reviewed here were often substantially larger. Those for two schools in the French study were 31 and 42; those reported by Whitla, Lass, tests year struction in which the total amount of time, as well as the relative amount and then adds: "This is not to say that the abilities that are measured on the Scholastic Aptitude Test are impervious to change; it is to say that if (1970) suggests that ". have ever teachers in those schools decided upon. The main question to be raised about whether extreme interventions would limit the generalizabil. of the Marron results is that of the total amount of time devoted to in-10 participating schools, servations that substantial average SAT-M increases were observed in all (usually April or May) and senior year (usually December or s are usually between 12 and 20 points, control group gains : one may estimate that even a year of rather intensive remedial inhad average educational experiences but who make low scores on and the curriculums in all instances were whatgroup gains in generalizability test scores will from those of can be devel-January) the ę the

STI should be suspended until one has The McCarthy findings provide a sampling of what might be expected from well-run school classes devigned specifically for preparing students for and Frankel were 31, 53, and 66 respectively. The McCarthy findings provide a sampling o that is corrupt and unworthy? instruction to overcome test-naiveté, integrative learning, the teaching of run course one the SAT-M. As such they would generalize to that part of the cor hing or instruction most likely question. That is, is the goar or increasing considering considering that is unattainable? For that matter, considering is the goal of increasing SAT-M scores by . wellnaiveté, etc.), is such a goal necessation of such programs produce meaningful gains (effective considered the specifics of what analytic problem-solving skills, is such a goal necessarily one review, the kinds

actually done, and that the limits of possible score gains linked to the several score components should also be considered.

<u>Applying the score components model</u>. Having considered the general outcomes of instruction for the SAT-M, and the questions that arose from a disparity between those studies failing to show an STI or ITI effect and those succeeding in doing so, we may next consider the findings not as overall outcomes but as outcomes related to the several score components.

Consider first the four score components having to do with developed mathematical aptitude. It will be recalled that the three components subject to STI effects (A-2, 3, and 4) were generally present in the studies that demonstrated STI or ITI effects and absent in those that failed to do so. We have also noted that limitations in component A-1 (developed ability) may have contributed to the lack of STI effects in the Roberts and Oppenheim study where the gap to be bridged may have been simply too large for STI to have an effect. On the other hand, the Pike and Evans instruction was effective over a wide range of initial SAT-M scores. The Frankel data showing control subject gains of 66 points provide an instance of substantial growth in component A-1. This is an interesting discovery not only because of its magnitude but also because for most students this is apparently, the effect of studying advanced levels of high school mathematics (most students in the school take four years of mathematics). These findings suggest that although the mathematics required to answer SAT-M items is intentionally limited to ninth- or tenth-grade content, mathematics beyond that level serves not only as review but also to facilitate answering SAT-M items. This in turn suggests that for mathematics the aptitude-achievement distinction is relative and implies as well that one way to increase mathematical aptitude as measured by the SAT-M is to take additional courses in that subject area.

The importance of component A-2 (review) is supported by data in three of the studies that reported no meaningful overall STI effects. The studies by Dyer, French, and Dear all showed STI gains of 28 or 29 SAT-M points for examinees not currently studying mathematics but much smaller gains for those who were taking mathematics courses. Some support for the possibility that instruction for components A-3 (integrative learning) and A-4 (analytic skills) may lead to a subsequent increased rate of growth in mathematical reasoning ability is provided in the Pike and Evans study, where it was observed that participants not only gained between pretest and posttest but gained an average of 24 additional points between the posttest and the postposttest that was taken four months later.

We may next examine STI or ITI effects related to the three score components that have to do directly with test taking. This instruction is a kind of "teaching to the test", but as noted earlier its impact is to help students overcome test-specific obstacles that cause them to receive inappropriately low test scores. Component B-1 (the match between an examinee's developed ability and the test content domain) was addressed as part of the content review in the Pike and Evans study, and presumably in those of Marron and McCarthy as well. It would be desirable to use diagnostic test information as well as item content information in those and in future studies to see whether filling specific gaps such as computing averages and solving inequalities has a demonstrable effect.

All studies presumably gave at least some attention to component B-2 (general TW). If, however, there is any strong conclusion to be reached from the studies reporting no meaningful STI effects, it is that instruction for general TW in the form of a few general rubrics such as "use your time well," "answer if you think you know the correct choice or if you can

eliminate at least one alternative," and of loosely structured group practice and discussion sessions is quite consistently ineffectual. This of course has direct implications regarding the probable value of much of the commercially provided test coaching. The aspect of general TW given particular attention in Pike and Evans was that of knowing when and how to guess, given partial information. It was found a* there was considerable confusion on the part of students and teachere wike on questions of the scholastic propriety, fairness, and efficacy of guessing when partially informed, and a related confusion regarding the implications of the formula score that "corrects" for guessing by subtracting a fraction of a point for wrong answers. Classroom demonstrations of the results of guessing when there was no information, and again when either two or three of five choices could be eliminated, allowed students in each class to derive the conclusion that over a set of items "partial credit is given for partial information.". This component of TW should also be examined for its effect on test-taking behavior and on test scores. Component B-3 (specific TW), particularly for the relatively complex item formats (data sufficiency and quantitative comparison), was also given considerable attention in the Pike and Evans study, which was probably responsible for the greater STI effects observed for these formats than were found for the much simpler "regular mathematics" item format.

Confidence and efficiency (components C-1 and 2) in test taking are most likely to increase if substantial efforts on the earlier score components have been made. Thus, in the three studies involving content instruction, it is very likely that at least some gains attributable to the secondary effects of increased confidence and efficiency in test taking. also occurred. To enhance this effect, Pike and Evans incorporated occasional timed practice tests that were tailored to the instruction previously received, in order to provide the students an awareness of having increased their test-taking capabilities.

FINDINGS REGARDING THE SAT-V

Would finding STI effects be feasible? It is a common observation that verbal aptitude is not likely to be as subject to coaching or STI effects as is true of mathematical aptitude. In the preface to the Pike and Evans (1972) monograph, for example, Kendrick stated that: "By now it has been fairly definitely settled that the verbal part of the Board's Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) is impervious to coaching. The mathematical part seems similarly, though perhaps not so thoroughly, proof against special preparation, but the question of mathematics is complicated by the fact that some students do not take mathematics in their senior year of secondary school, and lead lives very nearly undisturbed by quantitative thought. For them, it is only reasonable that a little review or warming-up would be helpful. . . . " (p. v). We have noted earlier (page 25) the College Board Commission on Tests' statement that concludes, ". . . if verbal and mathematical aptitude, especially verbal aptitude, can be developed within the length of, say, a school year, no one has yet demonstrated a way to do it" (emphasis added).

The above considerations, and the important role mathematics content instruction appeared to have in the studies showing meaningful STI gains for the SAT-M, make any study purporting to show major SAT-V gains appear suspect. However, a comparison of SAT-M and SAT-V findings among seven studies reporting coaching/STI effects on both (Dyer, French, Lass, Dear, Frankel, Whitla, and Roberts and Oppenheim) can serve to check on this

 $\mathbf{30}$

9 The Marron study also provided data did not include control subjects in and 0. with this conjecture is the fact that the largest controlygroup gain on Marron jects on the SAT-M were 66, strongly equivalent to those observed for the SAT-M. Having made this cor parison another can readily be added: the gains made by control subjects mathematics. of Science, nearly all of whom were taking four years of high school the SAT-M, 66 points, was observed for students at the Bronx High School paring is very these general impression. the SAT-M and SAT-V were 79 and 57 points respectively. The difference very likely attributable to the fact that most of the students in the Here, the SAT-M were 18, 6, and -9 seven studies. High, median, and low score changes by control sub-on the SAT-M were 66, 23, and 0; those on the SAT-V were 41, 34, and The surprising result, then, is that overall the SAT-V gains were study majored in engineering or related fields, and were also pre-for the College Board Mathematics Achievement Tests. Consistent Ę, the comparability is more than might have been expected. For the seven studies, n studies, high, median, and low STI effects points; those for the SAT-V were 18, 11, the study design. In that study, gains for both SAT-M and SAT-V (for Having made this com-ITI) but in.

aberrant as might have been expected, we may proceed to a summary of the SAT-V findings themselves. having learned Having made these that STI effects for the SAT-V would not be nearly so SAT-M and SAT-V comparisons, and in the process

of Pallone and Marron are positive. Furthermore, the findings of four, additional studies that are relevant to the SAT-V but not directed spe-cifically to that test also reach positive conclusions regarding score Another basic discrepancy. In summarizing the findings of studies of instruction directed to the SAT-V we again note a basic discrepancy. The overall conclusions of Dyer, French, Lass, Dear, Frankel, Whitla, Roberts of instruction for the English Composition Test (ECT), and the Moore and the Whitely and Dawis studies of instruction for answering verbal analogy gains attributable to STI or ITI. These are the Marron and Jacobs studies and Oppenneim, items. and Coffman and Neum are essentially negative, whereas those

age other of showed an average gain of 83 points on the 200-800 ECT scale. Again there were no control subjects. Using random assignment of volunteers to either the Che In the schools the difference between coached and control students was negligible. instructed or also took Pallone reported mean SAT-V gains of 98 and jects to allow an estimation of score gains specifically attributable -9 to jects, pressively large. For STI on ECT The SAT-V instruction program. However, the gains in both studies were 700 students 18 points. Unfortunately neither Pallone nor Marron had control subother four schools involving about 90 instructed and 90 control sub-mean differences ranged from 44 points in one school to 73 in anfirst group of studies showed overall mean SAT-V gains ranging from gain of 57 points. In the Marron ITI study, about 350 students the English Composition Test (ECT) pretests and posttests and control groups, Jacobs investigated the effects of scores in six schools. Only a posttest was given. in 10 schools who received ITI, Marron reported an aver-20 students receiving STI, and for 80 receiving 122 points respectively. In two L I I I 18 hours For ITI, 5

would translate to a gain of about two or three analogies on the SAT-V, which would result in an SAT-V gain of perhaps 10 or 15 points. Although brief **v**erbal analogies for highly able students. The differences he observed Moore's study of instruction for analogies would suggest that even very instruction can make a meaningful difference in performance on SAT-V,

28,

ŝ

this is not a large gain on the overall SAT-V score, it would be a meaningful effect as a <u>component</u> of that score, limited to the analogies part of the test. The Whitely and Dawis study showed gains quite consistent in degree to those reported by Moore, the difference being that the group studied were inner-city high school students rather than graduate students.

Interpreting the discrepancy. Confronted again with mixed results across studies we note once more the logical primacy of studies demonstrating effects over those failing to do so, but also reiterate that if they are to be fully accepted, positive STI conclusions must be strongly supported by research design and data. In this respect there are shortcomings in both studies addressed directly to raising SAT-V scores. The Pallone STI findings are based on only 20 experimental subjects, a number small enough to indicate clearly the need for replication before great confidence can be placed in the findings. Furthermore, both the STI and the ITI effects were observed in a single school, and the lack of control subjects leaves open the question of how much of the observed gain was attributable to the programs of special instruction and how much to other factors operating in the school in question. The fact remains, however, that the gains were extraordinary. Control subject gains on the SAT-V in the superior schools studied by Lass, Frankel, and Whitla were 41, 38, and 39 points respectively. If we then estimate that school effects and any other sources of growth and practice in the Pallone school would ordinarily be about 40 points, the average gains attributable to STI and ITI (involving 80 students) would be 58 and 82 points. Using the same estimation of expected control subject gains, Marron's data would indicate SAT-V gains of about 17 points. Thus the students appeared to make gains oily slightly greater than they could have expected from attending an exceptionally good high school over the same period of time. Even though the average gains on the SAT-V for students taking the SAT in April or May of one year and again in December or January of the next are usually in the neighborhood of 15 to 25 points, the 57 SAT-V point gain observed for the Marron st. y is large enough at least to raise doubts about the Commission on Tests' statement about raising verbal aptitude scores within a year, particularly since 10 different schools were involved.

Jacobs' finding of gains ranging from 44 to 77 points on the ECT are not only substantial, particularly as they were obtained with only 18 hours of instruction, but are also impressive in the sense that the research design was strong, with random assignment of subjects to control or experimental groups. The question is whether these findings on an achievement test can be interpreted as relevant to the SAT-V, an aptitude test, particularly since achievement tests with their content orientation are generally considered to be more susceptible to STL. Arguing for the relevance of Jacobs' findings are three observations: (1) achievement tests such as the ECT are viewed as becoming increasingly more like aptitude tests as efforts are made to have questions that will generalize across many school curriculums; (2) parts of the SAT-V, particularly antonyms and reading comprehension items, are measures of vocabulary and reading ability that could as well be viewed as achievement measures; and (3) the ECT contains complex item formats, and results of instruction for coping with these complexities may have implications for possible vulnerability of complex SAT-V item formats (particularly analogies) to similar kinds of instruction.

Marron's finding of an 83-point gain on the ECT for some 350 students . serves primarily as a rough confirmation of Jacobs' findings, although ITI was required to do it. Moore's data must be considered as tentative, in part because there were only 19 experimental and 19 control subjects, and

in part because the item format used was rather more cumbersome than that employed in the SAT-V. The Whitely and Dawis study involved 184 students from two high schools, giving an adequate data base from which to work, and in addition it involved a rather sophisticated experimental design. The major question about the generalizability of their data to the SAT-V is that the researchers went to considerable lengths to keep all the analogy items in the study at an unusually low vocabulary level. Although the vocabulary load is also kept reasonably low in analogies used in the SAT-V, many of the more difficult items involve fairly difficult words in order to test the ability to recognize subtle relationships. It may well be that the Whitely and Dawis study is directly relevant to possible score changes for very low-scoring subjects on the analogies part of the test, but this would have to be established in further studies.

Explaining the discrepancy. The next question is why the differences in overall conclusions may have occurred. In most of the studies for which negative conclusions regarding STI were reached, the instruction tended to be brief, relatively uncontrolled, and not directed toward verbal abilities, although an emphasis was placed on individual or group practice in test taking. The Coffman and Neun study departed somewhat from this pattern in that it was designed to determine the effect of a presumably typical accelerated reading course on SAT-V scores. This course involved about 50 hours of instruction as part of a college-credit course emphasizing rapid reading with relative accuracy. The Pallone STI study was comparable to the first seven negative studies in the number of hours spent on instruction; his ITI study was comparable to the number of hours of instruction in the Coffman and Neun investigation. The difference in results appear not to lie in the number of hours of instruction. The Pallone instructions for both STI and ITI differed sharply from those given in any of the negative studies, in that Pallone's instruction was deliberately designed to go beyond the "coaching" that had so regularly been found ineffectual. Instead, the instruction focused directly on reading, vocabularly, and verbal reasoning abilities that the SAT-V is intended to measure. The program was highly systematic and controlled, involving instruction in intensive reading, skimming, critical reading, exercises in answering reading comprehension items, and solving verbal analogies. Marron's study was characterized by the large amount of time involved (a full semester directed expressly to raising selected test scores,, although the amount of time devoted to preparation for the SAT-V is not clear. In any event, some kinds of verbal content instruction can be assumed and perhaps instruction directed to specific item formats as well. The studies of instruction for analogy solving (Moore; Whitely and Dawis) are not necessarily inconsistent with results in the studies reporting no meaningful overall gains on the SAT-V. This will be given further comment.

As was true for the Pike and Evans study of SAT-M instruction, the Pallone study of STI and ITI for the SAT-V differed most markedly from the others yielding negative results in the degree to which instruction was substantive and controlled, with emphasis given to effective review (A-2), integrative learning (A-3), the teaching of relevant analytic skills (A-4), and instruction specific to item format characteristics (B-3). On the one hand, this suggests that the generalizability of the Pallone results is limited to STI or ITI efforts that have a similarly strong content orientation, and perhaps specific TW instruction a3 well. On the other hand, these characteristics of the Pallone instruction clearly fall within the sphere of STI and ITI questions raised in various College Board and other statements on these topics, and by student, parent, and

3.7

professional education organizations. Generalization from the Marron results for SAT-V instruction is limited by the recognition that a considerable amount of instructional time was required to obtain the gains reported.

It is interesting to compare the importance of instructional content and the amount of instruction as they affect SAT-V scores. This is most evident in comparing the Pallone study to that of Coffman and Neun. The considerable amount of time spent in developing reading skills in the Coffman and Neun study yielded trivial gains and even losses in SAT-V scores, whereas the sharply focused curriculums used in STI and ITI in the Pallone study yielded sizable score gains. This difference between comparatively passive, unfocused study and active study directed to specific skills runs counter to the common feeling represented by French and Dear's (1959) conclusion that, rather than seeking coaching, an eager College Board candidate "... would probably gain at least as much by some review of mathematics on his own and by the reading of a few good books" (p. 329).

Item format differences. Only one of the 10 studies of SAT-V instruction reported differences by item format. This may have been in part because not many items of any one kind were present, since four item types were used, thus making comparisons risky, and in part because in most if not all the studies attention was focused on the overall results. This is unfortunate, because there is good reason to believe that because of differences in format complexity some item types may be more susceptible to instruction than others. In the French study, SAT-V instruction was provided in only two of the three schools. In the first school, two-thirds of the 18-point gain attributed to instruction was observed for analogies. For the second school, in which a 5-point gain was observed, nearly all the effect was due to antonyms. The difference between the two schools is perhaps best attributed to differences in instruction, the latter not having been closely monitored or controlled. In any event, the analogies effect noted in the one school is consistent with general evidence regarding the relationship between STI effects and item complexity, and with the studies of Moore and of Whitely and Dawis that were directed specifically to verbal analogies.

FINDINGS REGARDING TW

Defining TW. Again, TW will be defined as the set of skills and knowledge about how to take a particular test that allows the individual to display his or her abilities to the best advantage. Implicit in the definition is the recognition that some aspects of TW must be used if the examinee is to receive proper credit for the knowledge or ability being tested, but that other aspects of TW, such as taking advantage of "specific determiners," may allow the examinee to receive more credit than is appropriate. The latter aspect, however, is likely to be at a bare minimum for professionally developed tests such as the SAT.

<u>Guessing</u>. It was noted above that guessing, which may be defined as answering a test question in the absence of certainty as to the correct response, usually involves either a more or less spurious hunch or feeling, or the use of partial information, and is seldom the sort of blind selection that often first comes to mind when the term is used. It was also noted that partial information situations in which guessing is an appropriate behavior are necessarily a part of most objective testing, particularly when the test is at an appropriate level of difficulty.

Considerable thought and research have been given to the question of whether to use a "correction formula" to compensate for individual differ-

ences in guessing tendencies. The results are far from conclusive. Arguments for and against the use of correction formulas were also given earlier. The main conclusions to be drawn from these are that: (1) more information is needed on the subject to resolve differences in findings and conclusions; (2) better within-test or before-test answering instructions may be needed (Lord, 1975); and (3) both "rights only" and "correction formula" scoring procedures pose answering dilemmas to examinees, with the former emphasizing the decision of how to select an answer and the latter emphasizing that of whether to select an answer when in doubt.

. Risk taking (RT). Individual differences in guessing tendency at a given level of uncertainty of the correct answer and under a given set of instructions about guessing may be described as differences in risk-taking (RT) behavior. One set of basic findings reported above regarding RT was that of Swineford and Miller (1953), who studied RT under instructions that encouraged, discouraged, or were neutral to guessing. They found that (1) there was some guessing under all three sets of directions, (2) instructions inhibiting guessing were more effective than those encouraging it, and (3) there was little relationship between RT (deciding when to guess), and ability. Another basic finding was that of Crehan, Koehler, and Slakter (1974), who found that an individual's RT tendency is relatively stable across different tests at γ given time, but that RT tends to decrease over grades 5 to 9, then becomes relatively stable, at least through grade 11. They noted the implication of this finding, that the contribution of RT strategy toward maximizing test scores actually tends to become less between grades 5 and 9.

<u>Answer changing</u>. The question of whether to change test answers moves from the question of <u>when</u> to guess, toward that of <u>how</u> to do so. Excellent summaries of studies of answer changing are found in Lynch and Smith (1975), and in Mueller and Wasser (1977). Some of the conclusions generally agreed upon are listed on page 18.

TW for reading comprehension items. In considering TW as it applies specifically to particular item types, the shift from when to guess to how to guess is particularly evident. In a comparison of free-response and multiple-choice testing of the reading comprehension of British and American examinees, Vernon (1962) found a test-sophistication factor in the multiple-choice responses of British examinees, who were generally unfamiliar with such tests, that was much less evident in American responses. The difference was more pronounced for the relatively complex reading comprehension items than for the more straightforward vocabulary questions. This would suggest a relatively greater need for TW instruction for students on the more complex item format, reading comprehension. Two strategies were observed by Pyrczak (1972, 1974) in studies of answering behavior when the reading passages were not available. One made use of interrelationships among the items in a given set that accompanies a given reading passage, and another used such devices as selecting general principles rather than specific facts.

<u>TW for verbal analogies</u>. Connolly and Wantman (1964) used "think aloud" procedures with nine subjects and provided an impressionistic report of analogy-solving processes. One conclusion was that words among the alternative choices influenced how the stem words were interpreted. Another was that the students differed considerably in their methods of solving the analogy problems. These observations suggest the need for instruction directed to score components A-4 (relevant analytic skills) and B-3 (specific TW).

Other studies have examined the relationship between word associations and the solving of verbal analogies. Willner (1964) demonstrated that on many verbal analogies (drawn from a variety of tests other than the SAT); nearly half the items could be answered correctly using word associations alone, i.e., without having first to educe the relationships for a given item and then solve the analogy on the basis of the educed relationships. He noted that in some instances word associations tended to hinder rather than facilitate solving particular analogies, and thus the opposite effect seemed to have occurred. His proposed solution to the problem is to construct analogy items that are substantially free of the word association effects. This seems clearly desirable, since the use of facilitative word associations to get a higher score will give some students an unfair advantage; and the susceptibility to the distracting power of other word associations will put test-naive students at a disadvantage. Even if the two effects were well balanced across a set of items, the problem remains 'hat some meaningful part of score variance will occur because.of this actor, rather than to examinees' relative ability to solve verbal analogies, i.e., to educe and subsequently use structured relationships between pairs of words. Another way of reducing the problem is to provide instruction in solving analogies. It may be that simply expanding the within-test directions to include one sample item and its solution would be adequate.

36

Recommendations for Future Research

Specific recommendations for research on short- and intermediate-term instruction for the SAT, testwiseness, and related topics will be preceded by a discussion of the objectives toward which the research would be directed and a discussion of general research design considerations derived from an evaluation of the studies reviewed in this survey.

RESEARCH. OBJECTIVES

The immediate objectives of the research to be recommended will be presented after discussing the ultimate objectives toward which these would be directed.

<u>Ultimate objectives</u>. There are three ultimate objectives toward which the research would be directed. The first is to maximize the fairness and validity of the SAT with regard to its short-term and intermediateterm instruction (STI and ITI) score components. The second is not to discourage concern and activity regarding test-preparedness, but rather to. foster realistic understanding and expectations regarding possible outcomes of STI and ITI. The third, which would derive from the pursuit of the first two, is the emergence of a more basic understanding of the processes involved in test taking and contributing to aptitude test scores.

In considering these objectives, the score components model will again serve as the organizing principle. Differences in component A-1, aptitudes that have developed over a long period of time, do not fall within the purview of this survey, because the question of special instruction for the SAT, whether as STI or ITI, is by definition excluded from consideration for that component. The final component in the mode (D-1, error variance) is also excluded by definition, since "error" as used here in its traditional psychometric sense is score variance not attributable to the factors being considered. The remaining eight components are all subject to various STI and ITI effects and as such are those with which we will be concerned.

The issue of test fairness, to which the first research objective is addressed, is necessarily raised if there are meaningful STI and ITI score effects because of differences in the availability of instruction and even in the awareness of its possible effects. The fairness of the SAT with respect to the effects of special instruction can be maximized in four ways. The first is by informing examinees and educators of STI components that may increase academic aptitude performance (as distinct from underlying academic competence). These instructional components correspond to score components A-2 (review), A-3 (integrative learning, overlearning), and A-4 (learning relevant analytic skills). The second way is by minimizing the

34

ERIC

These activities correspond to well as the provision of within-test information examinee population. about subsequent change of test content specifications for demonstrating scholastic aptitude that are assumed in constructing the occurrences of mismatches between the basic skills and knowledge required tions and the actual distribution of these skills and knowledge in the of thequalities) and the dissemination of a clearly phrased statement the skills and knowledge This requires the discovery of such mismatches and the score component B-1. that are assumed in constructing the test. (such as defining the and test directions, as no ta-

familiarization materials. made available primarily through the use of widely disseminated test within-test directions, and the degree of speededness all influence the amount and kinds of TW required by the test. The TW that is needed can be culties, the presence of word association effects in versual analysis (whether hindering or facilitative), the clarity and completeness of R mat limiting the need for TW and by making it as generally available as possible. Limiting the need for TW can be accomplished primarily the from 1926 until recently have been in the direction of reducing item for-mat complexity. A direct result of such changes is a reduction in required test content decisions. As noted earlier, testwiseness The third way of maximizing the fairness of the SAT is by minimizing the Other test characteristics such as the distribution of item diffithe presence of word association effects in verbal analogies (FE score components, B-2 and B-3. This can be many of the changes in the done by through

ness are probably necessary to bring about desirable score changes attribtaking confidence and efficiency. The first three means of ensuring fairspecial The final means of ensuring maximum fairness of the SAT with respect to ecial instruction is that of helping students find ways to develop test-

the partial information, Scores that are lowered because examinees do not comprehend ponents (B-2 and 3) is evident on logical grounds, whether by limiting the evident. factorily as scores less influenced by these methods factors. Similarly, positive effect on test validity of helping students overcome problems i complex item formats, or because examinees are reluctant or fearful of u partial information, do not reflect the aptitudes being tested as satisneed for TW or by making the required TW as generally available as possible. instruction. oped aptitude than the score he or she would have received without after such STI is more representative of the individual's can be taught in a short time (B-1), then the score he or she would receive best index of academic potential. Similarly, if there the latter that the SAT is intended to measure and is considered to be the be brought in line with individual's of readiness full potential aptitude developed over a long period of time aptitude performance (e.g., components A-2, also tend to uted to these last components, C-1 and C2, but test-taking confidence and efficiency The steps individual's The effect on test validity of minimizing the scholastic performance that is shown when taking the SAT can to be demonstrated on the SAT. To put it another way, increase) last components, C-1 and C2, but are not always sufficient. just described for maximizing the fairness of the SAT would requisite knowledge for coping with the test content that test validity. STI designed to increase scholastic his or her full underlying competence, (components C-1 and 2) 3, and 4) helps ensure are specific level of TW score fearful of using some aspects of should be selfis at and it is such develgaps in the that the a state COMthe

foster realistic understanding and expectations regarding likely outcomes of STI and ITI by encouraging appropriate emphases and expectations regardcourage The second of the ultimate objectives for future research is not to disconcern and efforts regarding test-preparedness, but rather to

ŝ

ເມ ເອ

ing such instruction. Appropriate emphases and expectations may be encouraged by informing students and educators of the appropriateness of STI where needed for score components A-2, 3, and 4 (increasing scholastic aptitude performance), B-1 (filling in important gaps in assumed knowledge or skills), B-2 and 3 (providing general and specific TW), and C-1 and 2 (helping examinees develop test-taking confidence and efficiency). Inappropriate STI or ITI emphases, expectations, and activities may be discouraged primarily by informing students and educators of the limitations of special instruction corresponding to the components of test scores and to related examinee characteristics. This could begin by noting that for most students score component A-1 is by far the largest and is by definition not subject to STI effects, and by noting that because of component D-1 (error variance) any program of STI or ITI may result in a certain percentage of substantial score gains that are attributable entirely to chance and do not, therefore, constitute bona fide evidence of STI effects. Attention can then be directed to those score components that may be influenced by STI but for which such effects are necessarily subject to strong limitations. The effects of STI addressed to component A-2 (review), for example, are subject to two limiting factors. First, "review" presupposes that relevant material had already been learned earlier, and second, the effects for a given examinee are necessarily limited by the extent of his or her need for review. Similar limitations related to "readiness" for STI and the degree of need for it apply to components A-3 and 4. SFI effects for score component B-l are limited by the number of test items calling for the required knowledge or skill, and by the degree to which the examinee is lacking in these skills. Components B-2 and B-3 are limited by the degree of test naiveté to be overcome, as well as the need for TW that the test imposes. On the latter point, for example, an examinee who can answer most test questions correctly with confidence has little need for an effective strategy for guessing on the basis of partial information; the converse is true, of course, for the examinee who is only partially informed on a large percentage of the test questions. STI for components C-1. and C-2 is limited in its effects primarily by the extent to which examinees are being handicapped by a lack of confidence and efficiency in test taking. -

Perhaps the clearest instance of STI limitations that can be pointed out is instruction consisting almost entirely of drill on sample test questions. Such instruction is not only academically unsound but misses most of the avenues for having a meaningful effect on test scores. It entirely bypasses components A-2, A-3, A-4, and B1 and deals only peripherally with the TW components B-2 and B-3. Furthermore, it is unlikely to have more than a very modest effect on C-1, since confidence can best be built on a realization of increased competence in coping with the informational and TW requirements of the test, or on C-2.

Before leaving the topic of the limitations of STI, it is useful to address the paradox that despite these limitations, an examinee's problems with one or more of the score components may be such that appropriate STI could result in a very large score gain. The resolution of the paradox is in the realization that the limits are in the form of a "ceiling" effect, but that there is no equivalent "floor" effect. For example, some examinees may be so lacking in test-taking confidence that they "bomb" on the SAT, and remedying this may appropriately result in meaningfully and appropriately large score gains. However, the ceiling effect is such that: (1) the STI cannot yield a test score higher than that warranted by developed aptitude; and (2) such large gains can only

occur for those examinees who were initially severely handicapped by poor test-preparedness. To put it more generally, those students who are already well test-prepared will have little gain from STI, whatever its quality and duration, their own levels of motivation, and so on.

The third and ultimate objective for the recommended research would be derived in the process of realizing the first two. This objective is to gain a more basic understanding of the processes involved in testtaking that contribute to the test scores. Such an understanding can provide a good foundation for a possible evolution in aptitude testing, and could assist in providing information for diagnostic and placement purposes, rather than for admissions decisions only:

Immediate objectives. Recommended immediate objectives of future research regarding STI and TW would be to study systematically the effects of STI (or ITI) directed to the several components of SAT-M and SAT-V test scores, taking into account selected characteristics of examineés, test items, and special instruction. Examinee characteristics of most direct interest would be those related to the several test score components. Examples of these, for which measures before and following STI would be desirable, are as follows. For components A-2 and A-3, the level of mastery of skills such as computing ratios and proportions; for A-4, observations of item-answering processes, and facility in locating required information by scanning reading passages; for B-1, measures of information and skills (such as understanding the test directions) assumed in those taking the SAT; for B-2 and B-3, degree and kinds of TW and test-naiveté, including those involved in guessing behavior; and for C-1 and C-2, indices of levels of confidence and efficiency in test-taking. Among the item characteristics of interest would be item format, difficulty, fineness of distinction between the distractor and the keyed choice, and so on. Characteristics of the STI would include the instructional materials used and the conditions under which they were used. For score components 'A-2, 3, and 4, the use or nonuse of such materials as mathematics review and vocabulary building textbooks would be of nterest. Similarly, instruction for components B-1, 2, and 3 might be examined for differences associated with the use or nonuse of test familiarization materials more or less resembling the SAT descriptive booklets. For components C-1 and 2, effects resulting from taking a practice test, particularly one under conditions closely paralleling the SAT (such as the PSAT) would be of interest. Whatever the instructional materials, other variables of interest would be whether the STI was undertaken alone, through a tutor, in a more or less typical classroom setting, or in commercial coaching sessions or their equivalent.

DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS

The bulk of the studies reviewed in this survey have contributed little toward providing information that is either broadly generalizable or cumulative. This may be attributed in part to the considerable complexities of the questions involved, in part to the provision of STI that was loosely structured and monitored, with little certainty of exactly what was provided, and in part to a tendency to consider the results in an overall way with scant attention paid to systematic differences among score components, examinees, test items and instruction. It would seem important, therefore, that future research on STI and TW as they apply to the SAT should be given strong design consideration. This does not mean, of course, that pilot studies should be excluded, nor does it mean that only large-scale, costly

40

studies should be undertaken. What it does mean is that future studies of any magnitude should be tightly designed and fit into a matrix of interrelated studies that will collectively shed considerably more light on these questions and give more information than is now available. These studies, directed to the objectives presented above, can be given strong design characteristics by partitioning between STI effects and practice and growth, by partitioning among score components and examinee, item, and instructional characteristics, and by the systematic gathering and use of detailed pretest and posttest information.

Pretest and posttest data should be collected but not simply for overall test scores averaged over all examinees. For a given study, contrasts in STI effects associated with item format or with other item characteristics may well be desirable. Such contrasts should be designed into the study, with consideration given to adequate sampling of an item pool for each category of items that is of interest, and in particular they should have a large enough number of items in each category for meaningful and stable score differences to be demonstrated where appropriate. Pretest if posttest measures in examinee variables are desirable across a fuller any of score components than have generally been used. This is particularly true for such aspects of TW as guessing strategies and RT tendencies. Ideally, a test-preparedness profile over the several score components could be of great valu.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SAT-M RESEARCH

The Pike and Evans study of instruction for the SAT-M demonstrated very cluarly that meaningful STI effects, both overall and differentially by item format, can be obtained if the instruction is well designed and if it covers a sufficient range of SAT-M score components, including mathematical content (A-2, A-3, A-4, and B-1) and general and specific TW (B-2 and B-3). Recommended future research would be in the form of a coordinated series of studies, replicating that of Pike and Evans but differing primarily in an emphasis on partitioning the effects according to selected examinee, item, and instructional characteristics as they apply to selected test components.

The outcome of a set of such studies would include: (1) an extension of the study to eff.cts observed for inner-city students or others likely to be at lower levels of developed mathematical aptitude; (2) essentially a replication, but dropping data sufficiency items and differentiating between the content score components (A-2, A-3, /-4 and B-1) and the TW score components (B-2 and B-3). The use of diagnostic pretests and posttests of basic content skills and knowledge, and of TW abilities and attitudes, would be an integral part of the study design. Over the set of studies there would also be differentiation based on selected item characteristics within item format, differentiating between instruction provided by self-study and instruction provided under classroom supervision.

There are, of course, many ways of dividing the work into a set of related studies. Among the possible studies that would seem most to warrant current consideration are the following: (1) an extension of some part of the Pike and Evans research to different examinee groups, in particular inner-city stude *° or students identified as highly "math anxious"; (2) a study focused primarily on TW score components--it is in this realm that the questions of fairness and test validity are most problematic; and (3) a study directed primarily to relevant mathematical content. Either of the last two could be profitably expanded or followed up by a companion study that would allow a comparison between self-study and study provided in the classroom.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SAT-V RESEARCH

There is no SAT-V counterpart to the Pike and Evans SAT-M study upon which to build a series of subsequent studies. There are, however, two studies that can serve in conjunction with the research cobjectives and design considerations already outlined to give some direction to future SAT-V research.

In the Pallone study, instruction was carefully designed and monitored and was directed to the full array of STI or ITI score components. As with the Pike and Evans study of the SAT-M, the resulting score gains were both pragmatically and statistically significant. The fact that only a few subjects in a single school were involved, with no control subjects, severely limits the generalizability of the findings and fails to allow a partitioning between instructional effects and those attributable to growth and practice.

. The Whitely and Dawis study was limited to STI for verbal analogies. Within that constraint its strong design makes it a good study upon which to base some of the decisions for subsequent research plans for the SAT-V. The subjects were 184 students randomly drawn from two high schools and randomly assigned to treatment and control groups. The instruction was carefully designed and administered, and in the sense that the underlying skill of educing relationships is one that can be taught and may be considered a content skill, the instruction covered both content and TW score components. Resulting score gains were statistically sig ificant and were also pragmatically relevant to the SAT-V if STI effects for component test scores, as well as for overall scores, are considered. The basic limitation on extrapolating from the Whitely and Dawis findings to the analogies part of the SAT-V is that vocabulary was kept at an unusually low level in their study. The vocabulary requirements of SAT-V analogies of above average difficulty often include words that are rather difficult because they are needed to test the ability to educe more subtle relationships.

The current status of firm information regarding possible STI effects for the SAT-V is particularly problematic. Despite the importance of SAT-V scores, the issues of fairness and vaidity tied to possible STI effects, and the existence of a marked discrepancy between studies reporting negative findings and those reporting meaningful SAT-V score gains, no study exists that seriously tests the strong assertions noted above that the SAT-V is apparently impervious to the effects of periods of special instruction even as long as a year. As noted above, the general belief that the SAT-V must be considerably less susceptible to STI than the SAT-M does not hold up in a comparison of SAT-M and SAT-V effects in the several studies directed to both. Furthermore, several years have passed since Pike and Evans demonstrated STI effects for the SAT-M in 1972, and the Pallone study in 1961, which reported large STI effects for the SAT-V. What appears to be needed is a study or set of studies using STI generally similar to that provided by Pallone but modified to meet the objectives and design requirements 'described above. The effects of STI should be studied in a manner that would allow a partitioning of results according to test score components as they relate to specified examinee, item, and instructional characteristics. As was recommended for the SAT-M, a partitioning between content-related score components (A-2, A-3, A-4, and B-1), and TW components (B-1 and B-2) would be desirable. Among examinee characteristics of

interest would be variables related to quality of education, and perhaps a group having the verbal equivalent to "math anxiety" or "math aversion." Most basic among item characteristic partitionings would be that of examining STI effects separately by item format: reading comprehension, analogies, antonyms, and sentence comprehension. In doing so, instruction would be tailored to content-related and TW score components as manifested by each item format. Again, the use of diagnostic pretests and posttests of basic content skills and knowledge, and TW abilities and attitudes, would be an integral part of the study design. Over the set of studies, information would also be gathered comparing self-study to study in classroom settings.

43

40.

ERIC

References

STUDIES OF SHORT-T: INSTRUCTION (STI) AND INTERMEDIATE-TERM Law RUCTION (ITI)

Anastasi, A. Psychological testing (4th ed.). New York: Macmillan, 1976.

Carroll, J. B. Possible directions in which College Board tests of abilities and learning capacities might be developed. In College Entrance Examination Board, <u>Report of the Commission of Tests: II. Briefs</u>. New York: College Board, 1970.

Coffman, W. E., and Neun, M. E. Effects of an accelerated reading course on SAT-V scores. Research Bulletin 66-11. Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Service, 1966.

College Board. <u>Effects of coaching on Scholastic Aptitude Test scores</u>. New York: College Board, 1965, 1968.

- College Board. <u>Report of the Commission on Tests: I. Righting the balance</u>. New York: College Board, 1970.
- Cronbach, L. J. <u>Essentials of psychological testing</u> (3rd ed.). New York: Harper & Row, 1970.

Downey, G. W. Is it time we started teaching children how to take tests? <u>The American School Board Journal</u>, January 1977, pp. 26-31.

Dyer, H. S. Does coaching help? <u>College Board Review</u>, 1953, <u>19</u>, 331-335. (a) Dyer, H. S. <u>Scholastic Aptitude Test Coaching Study Data: Appendix to the</u>

article "Does Coaching Help?" New York: College Board, 1953. (b)

Ebel, R. L. <u>Measuring educational achievement</u>. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1965.

Evans, F. R., and Pike, L. W. The effects of instruction for three mathematics item formats. <u>Journal of Educational Measurement</u>. Winter 1973, <u>10</u>(4), 257-272.

Frankel, E. Effects of growth, practice and coaching on Scholastic Aptitude Test scores. <u>High Points</u>, January 1960, 34-45. (a)

Frankel, E. Effects of growth, practice and coaching on SAT scores. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1960, <u>38</u>, 713-719. (b)

Fremer, J., and Chandler, M. O. Special studies. Chapter VI in W. H. Angoff (Ed.), The College Board Admissions Testing Program: A technical report on research and development activities relating to the Scholastic

<u>Aptitude Test and Achievement Tests</u>. New York: College Board, 1971. French, J. W. An answer to test coaching: Public school experiment with the

SAT. <u>College Board Review</u>, 1955, <u>27</u>, 5-7. (a)

French, J. W. The <u>conchability</u> of the SAT in public schools. Research Bulletin 55-26. Princeton, N. J.: Educational Testing Service, 1955. (b) French, J. W., and Dear, R. E. Effect of coaching on an aptitude test.

Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1959, 19, 319-330.

Jacobs, P. I. Effects of coaching on the College Board English Composition Test. Educational and Psychological Measurement. 1966, 26, 55-67.

Lass, A. H. Unpublished report. Brooklyn, N. Y.: Abraham Lincoln High School, 1958.

- Loret, P. G. A history of the content of the Scholastic Aptitude Test. Test Development Memorandum 60-1. Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Service, 1960.
- Marron, J. E. Special test preparation, its effects on College Board scores and the relationship of effected scores to subsequent college performance. Unpublished manuscript, 1965.

McCarthy, R. P. Personal communication. Longmeadow, Mass., 1976.

Moore, J. C. Test-wiseness and analogy test performance. <u>Measurement and</u> <u>Evaluation in Guidance</u>, Winter 1971, <u>3</u>(4), 198-202.

- Pallone, N. Effects of short- and long-term developmental reading courses upon S.A.T. verbal scores. <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 1961, <u>39</u>, 654-657.
- Pike, L. W. Implicit guessing strategies of GRE-Aptitude examinees grouped by sex and ethnicity. Unpublished manuscript, 1978.
- Pike, L. W., and Evans, F. R. <u>Effects of Special instruction for three</u>, <u>kinds of mathematics aptitude items</u>. Research Report No. 1. New York: College Board, 1972.

Roberts; S. O., and Oppenheim, D. B. The effect of special instruction upon test performance of high school students in Tennessee. (College Board Research and Development Reports, RDR-66-7, No. 1.) Research Bulletin 66-36. Princeton, N. J.: Educational Testing Service, 1966.

- Stanley, J. C. Reliability. Chapter 13 in R. L. Thorndike (Ed.), <u>Educa-</u> <u>tional Measurement</u>. Washington, D.C.: American Council on Education, 1971.
- Vernon, P. E. Symposium on the effects of coaching and practice in intelligence tests. V. Conclusions. <u>British Journal of Educational</u> Psychology, 1954, 24, 57-63.
- Whitely, S. E., and Dawis, R. V. Effects of cognitive intervention on latent ability measured from analogy items. <u>Journal of Educational</u> <u>Psychology</u>, 1974, 66(5), 710-717.

Whitla, D. K. Effect of tutoring on Scholastic Aptitude Test scores. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1962, 41, 32-37.

Willner, A. An experimental analysis of analogical reasoning. <u>Psycho-</u> <u>logical Reports</u>, 1964, <u>15</u>, 479-494.

STUDIES OF TESTWISENESS (TW)

Alker, H. A., Carlson, J. A., and Hermann, M. G. Multiple-choice questions and student characteristics. Research Bulletin 67-52. Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Service, 1967.

Bath, J. A. Answer-changing behavior on objective examinations. The Journal of Educational Research, 1967, 61, 105-107.

Bloom, B. S., and Broder, L. J. <u>Problem-solving processes of college</u> <u>students</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1950.

Connolly, J. A., and Wantman, M. J. An exploration of oral reasoning processes in responding to objective test items. <u>Journal of Educa-</u>

tional Measurement, 1964, 1(1), 59-64. Crehan, K. D., Koehler, R. A., and Slakter, M. J. Longitudinal studies of test-wiseness. Journal of Educational Measurement, Fall 1974, 11(3), 209-212.

Diamond, J. J., and Evans, W. J. An investigation of the cognitive corre-

ERIC

lates of test-wiseness. Journal of Educational Measurement, Summer 1972, 9(2), 145-150.

Diamond, J. J., and Evans, W. J. The correction for guessing. <u>Réview of</u> <u>Educational Research</u>, 1973, <u>43</u>, 181-191.

Flaugher, R. L., and Pike, L. W. Reactions to a very difficult test by an inner-city high school population: A test and item analysis. Research Memorandum 70-11. Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Service, 1970.

Gentile, J. R. Toward an experimental analysis of reasoning on the Scholastic Aptitude Test: A pilot study. Research Memorandum 66-26. Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Service, 1966.

Gentile, J. R. Sociocultural level and knowledge of definitions in the solution of analogy items. <u>American Educational Research Journal</u>, 1968, <u>5</u>, 626-638.

Gentile, J. R., Kessler, D. K., and Gentile, P. K. Process of solving analogy items. Journal of Educational Psychology, 1969, <u>6</u>, 494-502.

Jacobs, S. S. Answer changing on objective tests: Some implications for test validity. <u>Educational and Psychological Measurement</u>, 1972, <u>32</u>, 1039-1044.

Lord, F. M. The effect of random guessing on test validity. <u>Educational</u> and <u>Psychological Measurement</u>, 1964, <u>24</u>, 745-747.

Lord, F. M. Formula scoring and number-right scoring. <u>Journal of Educa-</u> <u>tional Measurement</u>, 1975, 12, 7-11.

Lynch, D. O., and Smith, B. C. Item response changes: Effects on test scores. Measurement and Evaluation in Guidance, 1975, 7(4), 220-224.

Millman, J., Bishop, H., and Ebel, R. An analysis of test-wiseness. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1965, <u>25</u>, 707-726.

Mucller, D. J., and Schwedel, A Some correlates of net gain resultant from achievement test items. Journal of Educational Measurement, 1975, <u>12</u>, 251-255.

Mueller, D. J., and Wassor, V. Implications of changing answers on objective test items. Journal of Educational Measurement, 1977, 14, 9-13.

Pike, L. W., and Flaugher, R. L. Assessing the meaningfulness of group responses to multiple-choice test items. Reprinted from <u>Proceedings</u>, 78th Annual Convention, American Psychological Association, 1970.

Pyrczak, F. Objective evaluation of the quality of multiple-choice test % items designed to measure comprehension of reading passages. <u>Reading</u> <u>Research Quarterly</u>, 1972, 8, 62-71.

Pyrczak, F. Passage-dependence of items designed to measure the ability to identify the main ideas of paragraphs: Implications for validity. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1974, 34, 343-348.

Slakter, M. J. Risk taking on objective examinations, <u>American Educa-</u> <u>tional Research Journal</u>, 1967, 4, 31-43.

Slakter, M. J. The penalty for not guessing. <u>Journal of Educational</u> <u>Measurement</u>, 1968, 5, 141-144. (a)

Slakter, M. J. The effect of guessing strategy on objective test scores. Journal of Educational Measurement, 1968, 5, 217-222. (b)

Slakter, M. J. Generality of risk taking on objective examinations. <u>Educational and Psychological Measurement</u>, 1969, <u>29</u>, 115-128.

Slakter, M. J., Crehan, K. D., and Koehler, R. A. Longitudinal studies of risk taking on objective examinations. <u>Educational and Psychological</u> <u>Measurement</u>, 1975, <u>35</u>, 97-105.

Swineford, F., and Miller, P. M. Effects of directions regarding guessing on item statistics of a multiple-choice vocabulary test. Journal of Educational Psychology, 1953, 44, 129-139.

Thorndike, R. L. Editor's note: The problem of guessing. In <u>Educational</u> <u>Measurement</u>. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1971. Tobias, S. Math anxiety and avoidance. Seminar presented orally at Educational Testing Service, Princeton, N.J., May 1977.

Vernon, P. E. The determinants of reading comprehension. <u>Educational and</u> <u>Psychological Measurement</u>, 1962, <u>22</u>(2), 269-286.

47

ERIC